## DEVELOPMENT OF METHODS TO EVALUATE MANAGEMENT OPTIONS FOR ACHIEVING THE RECOVERY OF ENDANGERED SALMON STOCKS

by

Lynsey Ruth Pestes B.S., Walla Walla College, 2002

## RESEARCH PROJECT SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

## MASTER OF RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

In the School of Resource and Environmental Management

Project No. 397

© Lynsey Ruth Pestes 2006

SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY

Summer 2006

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

## Approval

Name:	Lynsey Ruth Pestes
Degree:	Master of Resource Management
Project No.:	397
Title of Research Project:	Development of methods to evaluate management options for achieving the recovery of endangered salmon stocks

**Supervisory Committee:** 

Dr. Randall M. Peterman Senior Supervisor Professor School of Resource and Environmental Management Simon Fraser University

Dr. Michael J. Bradford Committee Member Adjunct Professor Fisheries and Oceans Canada

Dr. Chris C. Wood Committee Member Adjunct Professor Fisheries and Oceans Canada

**Date Approved:** 

May 3/06



# DECLARATION OF PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENCE

The author, whose copyright is declared on the title page of this work, has granted to Simon Fraser University the right to lend this thesis, project or extended essay to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users.

The author has further granted permission to Simon Fraser University to keep or make a digital copy for use in its circulating collection, and, without changing the content, to translate the thesis/project or extended essays, if technically possible, to any medium or format for the purpose of preservation of the digital work.

The author has further agreed that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by either the author or the Dean of Graduate Studies.

It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without the author's written permission.

Permission for public performance, or limited permission for private scholarly use, of any multimedia materials forming part of this work, may have been granted by the author. This information may be found on the separately catalogued multimedia material and in the signed Partial Copyright Licence.

The original Partial Copyright Licence attesting to these terms, and signed by this author, may be found in the original bound copy of this work, retained in the Simon Fraser University Archive.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, BC, Canada

## Abstract

I developed a stochastic population model in a Bayesian decision analysis framework to evaluate management options for the depleted Cultus Lake, British Columbia, sockeye salmon stock. I sought state-dependent harvest rules that met three management objectives reflecting the probability of recovery within a specified period, the probability of abundance remaining above a conservation threshold, and the economic value of the harvest. This method produced quantitative information about tradeoffs between competing objectives. I found that recovery is feasible for the Cultus Lake sockeye stock under a number of harvest rules that allow harvesting in most years. Results were highly sensitive to pre-spawning mortality rate, indicating the need for a better understanding of that factor. Allowing the Cultus stock to recover may permit other late-run stocks to rebuild, thus partially offsetting the economic losses associated with reduced catches during recovery of the Cultus stock.

## Keywords

recovery planning, Bayesian decision analysis, salmon management, fisheries simulation model, conservation

To Dr. G. H. McMorland

## Acknowledgements

I thank Randall Peterman for sharing his expertise, advice, support, encouragement, time, and patience with me. Special thanks to my committee members, Chris Wood and Mike Bradford, for their contributions to this work.

I am grateful for the camaraderie and support of the fisheries research group at SFU (fish chicks).

Thanks to Brigitte Dorner for her assistance with Figure 10.

For providing data and technical support, I thank Steve Latham and Mike Lapointe from the Pacific Salmon Commission and Neil Schubert from Fisheries and Oceans Canada.

Thanks to my parents, Dale and Trish Pestes, for providing me with so many years of education and innumerable other things.

A deep thanks to my husband, Lucas Porter, for supporting me as I finished this project so that we can move to the next phase of our life together.

This research was funded by an NSERC individual research grant (via Randall Peterman), a DFO Academic Subvention grant (via Randall Peterman), and a SFU graduate fellowship awarded to Lynsey Pestes.

## **Table of Contents**

Approval
Abstract
Dedication
Acknowledgements
Table of Contents
List of Tables
List of Figures
Introduction
Research goal
Cultus Lake sockeye
Population modeling
Methods
Overview
Alternative management actions and implementation uncertainty 13
Model to calculate outcomes, taking into account uncertainties
Data sources
Cultus stock
Other late-run stocks
Performance measures
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis 20   Ranking of management actions 21   Sensitivity analyses 22
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis 20   Ranking of management actions 21   Sensitivity analyses 22   Results 22
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis 20   Ranking of management actions 21   Sensitivity analyses 22   Results 22   Sensitivity analyses 22   Sensitivity analyses 22
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis 20   Ranking of management actions 21   Sensitivity analyses 22   Results 22   Sensitivity analyses 22   Sensitivity analyses 22   Sensitivity analyses 22   Sensitivity analyses 25   Desired probability of recovery (Z <sub>1</sub> ) 25
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis 20   Ranking of management actions 21   Sensitivity analyses 22   Results 22   Sensitivity analyses 22   Sensitivity analyses 22   Sensitivity analyses 25   Desired probability of recovery $(Z_1)$ 25   Alternative management objectives 25
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis20Ranking of management actions21Sensitivity analyses22Results22Sensitivity analyses22Sensitivity analyses25Desired probability of recovery $(Z_1)$ 25Alternative management objectives25Pre-spawning mortality27
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis20Ranking of management actions21Sensitivity analyses22Results22Sensitivity analyses25Desired probability of recovery $(Z_1)$ 25Alternative management objectives25Pre-spawning mortality27Price per fish28
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis20Ranking of management actions21Sensitivity analyses22Results22Sensitivity analyses22Sensitivity analyses25Desired probability of recovery $(Z_1)$ 25Alternative management objectives25Pre-spawning mortality27Price per fish28Biological feasibility of recovery29
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis20Ranking of management actions21Sensitivity analyses22Results22Sensitivity analyses25Desired probability of recovery $(Z_1)$ 25Alternative management objectives25Pre-spawning mortality27Price per fish28Biological feasibility of recovery29Discussion29
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis 20   Ranking of management actions 21   Sensitivity analyses 22   Results. 22   Sensitivity analyses 25   Desired probability of recovery (Z <sub>1</sub> ) 25   Alternative management objectives 25   Pre-spawning mortality 27   Price per fish 28   Biological feasibility of recovery 29   Discussion 29   Future research 37   Tables 40
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis 20   Ranking of management actions 21   Sensitivity analyses 22   Results 22   Sensitivity analyses 22   Desired probability of recovery (Z <sub>1</sub> ) 25   Price per fish 28   Biological feasibility of recovery 29   Future research 37   Tables 40   Figures 56
Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis20Ranking of management actions21Sensitivity analyses22Results22Sensitivity analyses25Desired probability of recovery $(Z_I)$ 25Alternative management objectives25Pre-spawning mortality27Price per fish28Biological feasibility of recovery29Discussion29Future research37Tables40Figures56Reference List87

·· •·

·····

# List of Tables

Table 1.	Baseline values for parameters of management objectives, which state that the probability must be greater than $Z_I$ that the Cultus Lake sockeye spawner abundance, S, will reach some recovered level, X, by some year, T; and once the recovery target, X, is reached, the probability must be less than $Z_2$ that the number of Cultus spawners will fall below some level Q over the next Y years. PSM is the constant proportional pre-spawning mortality rate for all adult late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks, including Cultus
Table 2.	Spawner abundances for all simulated late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks, where "Sp. year 1", "2", "3", and "4" are historical spawner abundances from 1998-2001 and are used to initialize the first four years of the model, except for the Harrison Rapids stock, which was initialized with data from 1998-2000 because it returns mainly at ages 3 and 4 years. MSY is the maximum sustainable yield, $S_{msy}$ is the spawner abundance at MSY, and $H_{msy}$ is the proportional harvest rate at MSY. MSY for the Cultus stock was calculated using best-fit parameters for a modified Beverton-Holt relation (eq. 2, Figure 5) and was calculated for the other late-run stocks using stock-specific parameters (Table 4) for a Ricker relation (eq. 7)
Table 3.	Parameters of the Cultus smolt-to-adult-recruit relation (eq. 3 and 4), where c and b are parameters, $\sigma_g^2$ is the variance of the normally distributed error term g (eq. 3) that has a mean of 0, and $p_4$ is the proportion of the stock that returns at age 4
Table 4.	Stock-specific parameter values for non-Cultus late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks, where $a_s$ and $\beta_s$ are parameters of the Ricker relation (eq. 7), $\rho_s$ is the autocorrelation coefficient for residuals (eq. 8), $\sigma^2_{u,s}$ is the variance of residuals of equation 8, and $p_{4,s}$ is the proportion of the stock that returns at age 4 (eq. 4). Harrison Rapids sockeye return at age 3 and age 4, so its $p_{4,s}$ corresponds to age 3. For Shuswap and Portage stocks, the sub-dominant lines were combined with off-cycle lines

vii

-----

. . . . . . . . . . . .

Table 5.	Results for the baseline case (Table 1). Harvest rules for which the estimated probability of recovery $(Pr_{rec})$ for the Cultus stock meets or exceeds a desired probability of recovery $(Z_1)$ of 0.9, where $L$ , $H_{min}$ , $U$ , and $H_{max}$ are parameters of the harvest rule. " $Pr_{rec}$ " is the probability of the Cultus stock recovering (management objective 1), " $Pr_{qext}$ " is the probability of the Cultus stock recovering and then going quasi-extinct (management objective 2), "Long-term revenue" is the expected gross revenue from the harvest of late-run Fraser sockeye over the 120 years of the simulation, "annual revenue" is the expected mean annual gross revenue from the harvest of late-run Fraser sockeye, "Number years no harvest" and "Number years small harvest" refer to the expected number of years out of 120 with a proportional harvest rate of zero or less than 0.2, respectively. "Year of recovery" is the expected year of recovery for the Cultus sockeye. "Economic ranking" is the rank for the harvest rule based on gross revenue from the harvest
Table 6.	Results for the baseline parameters (Table 1), except for $Z_1$ , which is 0.8. Harvest rules for which the probability of recovery ( $Pr_{rec}$ ) for the Cultus stock meets or exceeds a desired probability of recovery ( $Z_1$ ) of 0.8. Column headings are as defined in Table 5
Table 7.	Results for the baseline parameters (Table 1), except for $Z_1$ , which is 0.7. Harvest rules for which the probability of recovery ( $Pr_{rec}$ ) for the Cultus stock meets or exceeds a desired probability of recovery ( $Z_1$ ) of 0.7. Column headings are as defined in Table 5
Table 8.	Results for the baseline parameters (Table 1), except for $Z_1$ , which is 0.6. Harvest rules for which the probability of recovery $(Pr_{rec})$ for the Cultus stock meets or exceeds a desired probability of recovery $(Z_1)$ of 0.6. Column headings are as defined in Table 5
Table 9.	Results when the constant pre-spawning mortality rate (PSM) is 0.2 or 0.3, but when the harvest rule is used that has the highest expected gross revenue satisfying $Z_1 = 0.9$ in a case where PSM = 0.1 (rule #43, Table 5). The harvest rule parameters are $L = 10,000$ , $H_{min} = 0.2$ , $U = 65,000$ , $H_{max} = 0.63$ . Column headings are as defined in Table 5
Table A1.	Mean post-orbital-fork (POF) length (cm) of fish caught in Gulf troll test fisheries in late August and September
Table A2.	Assumed gross commercial revenue as processed price per kg round 97

. ....

-----

# List of Figures

Figure 1.	Annual abundance of Cultus Lake sockeye adult spawners (escapement), 1925-2001	7
Figure 2.	Decision tree illustrating the main structure of this analysis. Branches emanating from the square node represent different harvest rules, each one described by a set of parameters as illustrated in Figure 3. Branches emanating from round nodes are uncertain states of nature. For each possible harvest rule, there is an uncertainty node that has a branch for every possible state of nature (combination of parameter values for the Cultus spawner-to-smolt model). The relative weighting (or probability, $Pr_n$ ) on each uncertain state is the Bayesian joint posterior probability for a given combination of those parameters. The figure only shows a subset of the many harvest rules and uncertain states of nature	59
Figure 3.	Harvest rule to calculate the target harvest rate, $H_{tar}$ (before implementation uncertainty was imposed). <i>L</i> is the abundance of Cultus Lake sockeye recruits at which $H_{min}$ was the management target and below which no harvest was taken. The maximum proportional harvest rate, $H_{max}$ , was the target above Cultus recruit abundance $U$	51
Figure 4.	Flow chart of the simulation model of life histories and management of the Cultus Lake and other late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks. PSM is pre-spawning mortality of adults that occurs in the lake, <i>T</i> is the time frame for recovery, and <i>Y</i> is the time frame for long-term survival subsequent to recovery	53
Figure 5.	Smolt and spawner data for the Cultus Lake sockeye stock (1951, 1954-1960, 1965-1971, 1974-1975, and 1988-1989 brood years). The curve is the best-fit modified Beverton-Holt curve (eq. 2 fit using least squares regression). The best-fit parameter values are $a = 55.597$ , $d = 1.153$ , and $K = 69.375$	55
Figure 6.	Marginal posterior probabilities for parameters of the modified Beverton-Holt model (eq. 2) used to represent the Cultus spawner-to- smolt relation. The discrete values shown by data points are those considered in the Bayesian analysis: (A) 16 values of the <i>a</i> parameter with a minimum value of 15 and an interval of 10, (B) 14 values of the <i>d</i> parameter with a minimum value of 0.5 and an interval of 0.1, and (C) 15 values of the <i>K</i> parameter with a minimum value of 20 and an interval of 20. Bounds on the uniform prior probabilities are indicated by dashed vertical lines	67

Figure 7.	Flow chart of the Monte Carlo procedure for finding harvest rules that satisfy the stated management objectives. Symbols are defined in the text
Figure 8.	Example simulation results of the trajectory of Cultus spawner abundance over time. The lighter line is Cultus spawner abundance. The darker line is the 4-year running average of that abundance, which was used for comparison with management objectives. (A) Case in which the Cultus stock recovers, i.e., the 4-year running average of spawner abundance (S) exceeds the recovery threshold of 20,000 (X) (horizontal dashed line) by year 20 (T) (vertical dashed line). This case used baseline parameters (Table 1); harvest rule parameters were $L = 10,000$ , $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 60,000$ , and $H_{max} = 0.75$ . (B) Case in which the Cultus stock fails to recover by year 20. This case used baseline parameters (Table 1); harvest rule parameters were $L = 10,000$ , $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 60,000$ , and $H_{max} = 0.83$ . (C) Case in which the Cultus stock recovered to a threshold (X) of 10,000 before year 20 but then went below a quasi-extinction threshold (Q) of 5000 at year 26. Harvest rule parameters were $L = 1000$ , and $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 60,000$ , and $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 60,000$ , and $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 60,000$ , and $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 60,000$ , and $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 60,000$ , and $H_{max} = 0.94$ . Panels A, B, and C reflect examples that used, for illustrative purposes only, the best-fit values for parameters of the Cultus spawner-to-smolt relation (Figure 5)
Figure 9.	Isopleths of $Pr_{rec}$ , or estimated probability of recovery for the Cultus stock, compared to $Z_1$ , the desired probability of recovery, for combinations of harvest rule parameters $L$ , $H_{min}$ , $U$ , and $H_{max}$
Figure 10.	Shapes of harvest rules that met both the recovery and long-term survival objectives (management objectives 1 and 2) under baseline parameters (Table 1). The boldfaced harvest rule is the highest-ranked harvest rule based on maximizing gross commercial revenue that also achieved $Z_1 = 0.9$ and is defined by $L = 1,000$ , $H_{min} = 0.2$ , $U = 65,000$ , and $H_{max} = 0.63$ (rule #43, Table 5)
Figure 11.	Example probability distribution of the expected annual gross revenue from the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye (average over 120 years). The distribution is from 134,400 Monte Carlo trials under baseline conditions (Table 1) and a harvest rule where $L = 10,000$ , $H_{min} = 0.1$ , $U = 100,000$ , and $H_{max} = 0.93$ . For economic values not shown on the graph (less than \$29.17 million), the cumulative probability is less than 0.01. Labels on the x-axis are the midpoint for each interval. The dashed vertical line represents the expected value of \$33.59

Figure 12.	Example probability distribution of year of recovery for the Cultus sockeye stock for the portion of 134,400 Monte Carlo trials in which the stock recovered to a spawner abundance of 20,000 by year 20, based on baseline conditions (Table 1) and a harvest rule where $L = 10,000$ , $H_{min} = 0.2$ , $U = 65,000$ , and $H_{max} = 0.63$ . For years of recovery not shown on the graph (below year nine), the cumulative probability was less than 0.001. The dashed vertical line represents the mean year of recovery, 15.02
Figure 13.	Expected mean annual gross revenue (\$ millions) under the highest- ranked harvest rule (based on expected revenue) from the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye over the next 120 years as a function of the desired probability of recovery for the Cultus Lake sockeye salmon stock $(Z_1)$
Figure 14.	Expected year of recovery for the Cultus sockeye stock and expected mean annual gross revenue (\$ millions) from the harvest of the late- run Fraser River sockeye as a function of probability of recovery $(Pr_{rec})$ for the Cultus stock. Points on the graph represent expected year of recovery, and the solid line represents the expected mean annual gross revenue for a given probability of recovery, as defined in Figure 13. The vertical and horizontal lines intersect to show the expected mean gross revenue and the earliest expected year of recovery for probabilities of recovery equal to 0.8 and 0.9
Figure 15.	Expected mean annual gross revenue from the catch (\$ millions) and the expected proportion of years with little or no catch (proportional harvest rate $\leq 0.2$ ) for the 52 harvest rules that met the baseline conservation management objectives ( $Z_1 = 0.9$ and $Z_2 = 0.05$ ). (A) Harvest rules ranked from left to right based on gross revenue. (B) Harvest rules ranked from left to right based on proportion of years with little or no catch

## Introduction

In recent years, numerous local populations of Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp.) in the Pacific Northwest have become extinct, and abundances of many others have been severely reduced (Konkel and McIntyre 1987; Nehlsen et al. 1991; Slaney et al. 1996). Reasons for these depletions include, among others, overharvesting, poor oceanographic conditions for marine survival, and human activities that reduce the quality and quantity of freshwater habitat (Knudsen et al. 2000). However, in many cases, a combination of such factors occurred simultaneously, so that it is not possible to clearly attribute a cause to the observed reduction in abundance (Deriso et al. 2001; Peters and Marmorek 2001). This confounding of causal factors has thus created considerable uncertainty about appropriate management strategies for both attaining recovery of depleted salmon stocks and preventing severe depletion of other salmon stocks in the future.

Agencies responsible for management of salmon on the west coast of North America have responded to this situation by generally becoming more cautious about regulating both the harvest of salmon and activities that could affect freshwater habitat (Knudsen et al. 2000). Also, compared to several decades ago, more risk assessments are being conducted for harvesting plans, proposed habitat alterations, and other activities that could potentially threaten the survival of salmon stocks.

These responses have in part been legally mandated or promoted through the United States' Endangered Species Act (ESA) or Canada's Species at Risk Act (SARA). Both acts require evaluation of management options that will improve chances of recovery or prevent further depletion of stocks facing conservation challenges.

Most such evaluations of management options and population viability have been conducted using quantitative models (Botsford and Brittnacher 1998; Nickelson and Lawson 1998). Stochastic models of population dynamics have been used to classify species under ESA, SARA, or criteria set forth by the World Conservation Union (IUCN) (Taylor et al. 2002), as well as to set target harvest rates and spawner abundances for stocks that are not yet in "threatened" or "endangered" categories (Mace 1994; Bradford et al. 2000). To the extent that models used to evaluate recovery options take uncertainties in model components into account explicitly, they are considered as one component of broader risk assessments (U.S. EPA 1998).

Relatively few models developed to date for evaluating options for recovery of depleted salmon stocks have tied together the major dynamic processes that have been incorporated singly into other, separate models. For example, uncertainty about how effectively management regulations are implemented has rarely been included in salmon models, but such processes may critically affect the chance of success of proposed recovery options.

## **Research** goal

My research goal was to fill some of these gaps by developing a more elaborate quantitative method for evaluating management options: a method capable of identifying options that increase the chance that a salmon stock will recover from a depleted state and providing managers with quantitative information on tradeoffs between competing management objectives, such as probability of recovery and revenue from harvest. I used the sockeye salmon (*O. nerka*) stock from Cultus Lake, British Columbia (B.C.), Canada, as a case example.

#### Cultus Lake sockeye

Cultus Lake is part of the Fraser River system, and the Cultus Lake sockeye salmon are managed as part of the late-run Fraser River sockeye group, which is harvested in a fishery that has normally generated catches worth millions of dollars annually. This stock is also of cultural and economic importance to First Nations, particularly the Soowahlie Band and other Sto:lo nations. Cultus Lake sockeye escapement to the spawning grounds has declined dramatically from historical levels, particularly in recent years (Schubert et al. 2002) (Figure 1). An excellent overview of Cultus Lake sockeye life history and management can be found in Schubert et al. (2002), and the Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team (2004) described the population's distribution, habitat, and threats to its persistence.

The Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team identified three main causes for the population's decline in abundance: "over-exploitation in mixed stock fisheries prior to 1995, poor marine survival in the early- to mid-1990s, and, since 1995, high pre-spawning mortality (PSM) caused by unusually early migrations into freshwater and an associated parasite infection" (Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team 2004). Other possible threats to the recovery of the Cultus stock, in addition to exploitation, early migration, and PSM, include other parasitic infections and diseases, natural variability in freshwater and ocean conditions, and human alterations to the freshwater conditions for spawners and smolts (Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team 2004). The area around Cultus Lake has been developed for recreational properties and the lake is heavily used. An exotic plant, Eurasian watermilfoil (*Myriophyllum spicatum*), has spread through the lake, encroaching on spawning grounds and providing habitat cover for juvenile northern pikeminnow

(*Ptychocheilus oregonensis*) (Schubert et al. 2002). Adult pikeminnow are known to be predators of sockeye fry and smolts in Cultus Lake (Ricker 1941; Steigenberger 1972; Mossop et al. 2004).

Concern about the unusually high PSM rate and the dramatic decline in Cultus spawner abundance prompted increased assessment by Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) (Schubert et al. 2002), as well as a public petition for emergency assessment by the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC). COSEWIC designated the population as Endangered by emergency assessment in November 2002 and by full committee in May 2003 (COSEWIC 2003), prompting DFO to form a Recovery Team for this stock. The COSEWIC assessment was sent to the Federal Government for the Cultus Lake sockeye salmon to be considered for listing under SARA. However, in 2004 the Canadian Minister of the Environment chose not to list this stock under SARA, because listing the Cultus sockeye stock would have triggered a ban on "killing, harming, harassing, capturing or taking" Cultus sockeye, unless these activities were specifically authorized through a permit under SARA or as part of the recovery strategy or action plan for the Cultus sockeye stock (Canada Gazette 2005). Any resulting reduction in the harvest rate of Cultus Lake sockeye would have also decreased opportunities to harvest co-migrating late-run Fraser River sockeye in the mixed-stock fishery in marine and estuarine waters, potentially reducing the value of that fishery by millions of dollars annually. The resulting social and economic costs were deemed unacceptably high.

Regardless of the legal status of the Cultus Lake sockeye salmon stock under SARA, DFO committed to continue developing a recovery strategy and subsequent

action plan for this stock. No matter what DFO subsequently does with that recovery strategy, the research reported here developed methods to help inform fisheries managers about the relative merits of management options in terms of the probability of recovery for this stock and the revenues from harvests on co-migrating salmon stocks. Furthermore, the procedures used here, as well as some qualitative findings, may be more widely applicable to recovery planning for other fish populations.

## **Population modeling**

Most models of salmon population dynamics that have been used in analyses of conservation issues have been stochastic, PVA-type models (population viability analyses) that focused on estimating the chance that a population would either go extinct or reach some other undesirable level of abundance. A few of those models were developed to identify recovery strategies for achieving recovery goals for various Pacific salmon populations or to identify de-listing criteria (to define when to safely remove a stock from formal listing as "endangered"). Examples of such models are Botsford (1994), Botsford and Brittnacher (1998), McElhany et al. (2000), Peters and Marmorek (2001), Peters et al. (2001), Ford et al. (2001), and Ruckelshaus et al. (2002). It is clear from these and other cases that stock-specific, as opposed to general, models are needed to evaluate rebuilding options in the context of fully-specified, stock-specific recovery goals (Botsford 1994; Peters and Marmorek 2001; MacCall 2002). My research project aimed to meet this need for Cultus Lake sockeye salmon by developing a model to determine harvest strategies that have a high probability of meeting recovery goals in a timely manner.

The research reported here also extended previous salmon risk assessment models by incorporating into one analysis several factors that may have an important influence on the chance that any fish population, including the Cultus Lake sockeye population, will recover under a given set of natural and harvesting conditions. These factors are:

- (1) Implementation uncertainty in the fishery;
- (2) Changing, complex, and conflicting management objectives;
- (3) Biological factors such as pre-spawning mortality; and
- (4) Structural uncertainty in functional forms of model components, in particular, depensatory mortality in fresh water.

Each of these factors is important to include in analyses of Cultus Lake sockeye for several reasons. First, implementation uncertainty (i.e., deviation from the annual target escapement or target percent harvest rate) is important but is still not often included in models (Bocking and Peterman 1988; Rice and Richards 1996; Robb and Peterman 1998). Implementation uncertainty can occur in salmon fisheries for multiple reasons. First, the annual preseason forecast of recruit abundance, on which the target harvest rate is based, is imperfect, and in-season updates are often difficult. Second, the actual harvest rate in a fishery usually deviates from the target harvest rate. For example, large recruitment tends to lead to over-escapement because by the time in-season estimates indicate high salmon abundance, it is usually too late to harvest all the desired fish and the escapement goal is exceeded (Rosenberg and Brault 1993; Robb and Peterman 1998). The converse is true when recruitment is low; by the time a low recruitment is identified, even a complete closure of fisheries may not be enough to achieve the escapement target. As well, although models often assume no discarding or unreported catch, this assumption is likely incorrect (Pitcher et al. 2002). If implementation uncertainty is not explicitly considered in a model, the conservation and economic objectives for a stock may not be met because the actual outcomes from a given management action will deviate from the mean predicted outcomes (Rice and Richards 1996). My model included a stochastic function in the harvesting sub-model to reflect such implementation uncertainty.

Second, fisheries management is difficult because objectives held by different user groups are often uncertain, changing, or conflicting (Smith 1993; Marmorek and Peters 2001; Walters and Martell 2004). An effective model must be able to produce appropriate indicators for a variety of management objectives and show tradeoffs between different objectives. Specifically, in the case of conservation problems such as those dealt with here, managers, user groups, and the public may like to see, for instance, how much of a gain in the chance of recovery of the Cultus Lake sockeye stock will be obtained for each reduction of 100,000 fish caught in the late-run sockeye salmon fishery. The model developed here permits such comparisons.

Third, many biological uncertainties are often overlooked in models. For instance, pre-spawning mortality rates for Cultus Lake sockeye have been unusually high in the last decade. However, future PSM rates are quite uncertain, and causes of variation are unknown (Gilhousen 1990; PSC 2003; Cooke et al. 2004). Thus, I examined the effect of this uncertainty through a sensitivity analysis.

The fourth factor accounted for here reflects the observation that structural uncertainty in functional forms of processes included in models can be very important,

perhaps even more important than uncertainty in parameters (McAllister and Kirchner 2002). This type of uncertainty can potentially greatly alter the choice of an optimal management action (Punt and Hilborn 1997; Robb and Peterman 1998; Runge and Johnson 2002). Despite this viewpoint, relations among variables in most models are usually represented by a single function without any other functional form being investigated. In contrast, I considered here different shapes of a key model component that reflect various intensities of depensatory mortality in the spawner-to-smolt relation for the Cultus Lake sockeye.

Depensatory mortality (an increasing percent mortality rate as abundance decreases) can arise from several mechanisms, especially predation. Although past papers have discussed the possibility of, and the theory behind, depensation at low salmon abundance (Neave 1953; Peterman 1977), unequivocal empirical evidence to support this theory for salmon populations is rare (Peterman 1977, 1991; Peterman and Steer 1981; Myers et al. 1995; Liermann and Hilborn 1997; Myers 2001). Several authors conclude that although there is still considerable uncertainty about whether depensation occurs in specific salmon populations, or to what degree, they recommend allowing for the possibility of depensation in models (Peterman et al. 1985; Liermann and Hilborn 1997; Chen et al. 2002). Depensation should receive particular attention in the case of lowabundance stocks such as the Cultus Lake sockeye, because it can slow or prevent recovery or help push stocks to extinction (Peterman 1977; Routledge and Irvine 1999; Petersen and Levitan 2001).

When depensation is accounted for by salmon managers, it is often handled only indirectly through a quasi-extinction threshold, rather than through a depensatory

function in the model of population dynamics (e.g., Schubert et al. 2002; Lindley and Mohr 2003). However, an arbitrary quasi-extinction threshold may lead to the choice of a harvest rule that is overly conservative biologically and thus decrease economic benefits, or overly aggressive in terms of harvest, thereby not providing the stock with adequate protection against depletion to levels where depensation may occur. In contrast, an appropriate harvest rule (i.e., one that guards against unacceptable and unnecessary decreases in economic value or benefits of biological conservation) can be estimated from a model such as mine that explicitly accounts for depensatory mortality.

At least two models have already been developed and applied to the Cultus Lake sockeye salmon stock as part of the evaluations by PSARC and the Recovery Team. However, neither model explicitly deals with depensation or implementation uncertainty (Schubert et al. 2002; Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team 2004). Instead, they account for the possibility of depensation through the just-described approach of using an arbitrary quasi-extinction threshold, rather than through structural uncertainty in the population dynamics. Those models were applied assuming that the condition to avoid is four consecutive years with less than 100 successful adult Cultus sockeye spawners. By merely accounting for uncertainty about depensation through this quasi-extinction threshold, the assumption is made that depensation will not come into play at abundances above 100 spawners. Such an exact threshold is unlikely. Furthermore, although these models examined the possibility of stock recovery, they have not sought optimal harvest rules that allow for both "recovery" (increased abundance to a desired level) and "longterm survival" (maintenance of abundance above some level of concern).

The model developed here incorporates aspects of the management and population biology of the Cultus Lake sockeye stock to examine tradeoffs between probability of recovery of the stock and gross commercial revenue from the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye. The results of this work should not be construed as making specific recommendations for the Cultus Lake sockeye stock, but rather as illustrating a useful tool for recovery planning in general. Before making final decisions on the Cultus Lake situation, managers must consider a broader range of factors, such as human effects on freshwater habitat, that are beyond the scope of this study. Also, although this study focuses on commercial revenue as a conventional illustrative example, there are noncommercial values that should be considered in a more thorough analysis. These include, among others, non-extractive values such as existence value and value to the ecosystem, and First Nations' food, social, and ceremonial values.

## Methods

## Overview

There were two research objectives: (1) determine the rank order of various harvesting options for the Cultus Lake sockeye population while taking into account uncertainties in the population's dynamics by using Bayesian decision analysis, and (2) identify harvesting options that are robust to changes in various assumptions, while also meeting the management objectives.

The main framework for this research, decision analysis, is a formal method for taking uncertainties into account when evaluating management options (Walters 1986; Punt and Hilborn 1997; Peterman and Peters 1998; Peterman and Anderson 1999). Decision analysis has been used for about 40 years in business and has been applied to various problems in fisheries management (Lord 1976; Walters 1986; Robb and Peterman 1998; Schnute et al. 2000; Macgregor et al. 2002). Both risk assessment and decision analysis have also been applied in the management of endangered species (Maguire 1986; Ludwig 1996; Taylor et al. 1996; Marmorek and Peters 2001; Peters and Marmorek 2001; Peters et al. 2001).

My decision analysis for the management of Cultus Lake sockeye had eight components, as detailed in the next sections: (1) management objectives, (2) alternative management actions, (3) models for estimating consequences or outcomes for each combination of management action and uncertain state of nature, (4) uncertain states of nature to consider explicitly, (5) probabilities on each uncertain state of nature, (6) rankings of management actions, and (7) sensitivity analyses (Peterman and Anderson 1999). The eighth component, a decision tree, illustrates connections among these components for a limited subset of example management options, uncertain states of nature, and outcomes (Figure 2).

## **Management** objectives

In endangered species planning, the definitions and time frames of "recovery" and "long-term survival" are somewhat arbitrary and are typically left to the discretion of the recovery planners (Tear et al. 2005), as was the case for the Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team. Thus, for the purpose of this paper, I deemed the Cultus Lake sockeye stock to be "recovered" if the 4-year running average (arithmetic mean) of spawner abundance (S) exceeded a recovery goal (X) by some year (T). I defined "long-term survival" as the 4year running average of spawner abundance (S) remaining above a quasi-extinction level (Q) for (Y) years after "recovery" had been achieved. Use of the 4-year arithmetic mean

guarded against the stock being boosted above the recovery goal by one dominant cycle line while the other cycle lines had not recovered. Similarly, the stock was not considered quasi-extinct if three cycle lines had high abundances and only one dropped below the quasi-extinction threshold.

I characterized the Cultus Lake sockeye situation by three hypothetical management objectives. The general structure of these objectives was as follows:

- (1) A recovery objective, which stated that the probability must be greater than  $Z_1$  that the Cultus spawner abundance, S, will reach some recovered level, X, by some year, T, symbolized as  $Pr(S > X \text{ by year } T) > Z_1$ , or  $Pr_{rec} > Z_1$ ;
- (2) A long-term survival objective, which stated that once the recovery target, X, was reached, the probability must be less than  $Z_2$  that the number of Cultus spawners will fall below some level Q over the next Y years, or Pr(S < Q over next Y years) $< Z_2$ , or  $Pr_{qext} < Z_2$ ; and
- (3) An *economic objective*, which sought to maximize the long-term gross commercial revenue from the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye under the condition that the first two management objectives were met.

Specific desired values of the components of the first two objectives (e.g., X, T,  $Z_1$ , Q, Y, and  $Z_2$ ) have yet to be determined by any decision-making body. Therefore, my analyses examined a range of these parameter values to reflect a range of plausible management objectives (baseline values listed in Table 1). The specific indicators, or performance measures, that reflected how well each management objective was met under a given simulated management option were  $Pr_{rec}$  (the probability of recovery

estimated via Monte Carlo simulation),  $Pr_{qext}$  (the probability of quasi-extinction, also estimated by simulation), and the expected long-term and annual gross commercial revenue from the catch.

For this research project, I defined the baseline recovery goal (X) as a 4-year average of 20,000 spawners and the recovery time frame (T) as 20 years, or 5 generations of Cultus Lake sockeye salmon. The recovery goal of 20,000 spawners is roughly the average spawner abundance for Cultus sockeye during a period of low exploitation rates (1925-1952) (Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team 2004). Elsewhere, long-term salmon management goals have sometimes been set according to such historical criteria (Knudsen 1999). I selected 20 years or 5 generations as the time frame for the recovery goal because the Cultus stock is severely depleted and may require several generations for substantial population growth to occur. Some studies have chosen even longer periods (e.g., Peters and Marmorek 2001).

I defined the baseline quasi-extinction level (Q) as 1000 spawners and the time frame (Y) for the long-term survival objective as 100 years or 25 generations. A 4-year average of 1000 spawners is the minimum genetically effective population size for Cultus sockeye, below which genetic integrity of the stock cannot be ensured (Lynch and Lande 1998, Allendorf and Ryman 2002, Waples 2002, Bradford and Wood 2004, Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team 2004).

#### Alternative management actions and implementation uncertainty

I sought harvest rules that met the management objectives for Cultus Lake sockeye. Each harvest rule was represented by four parameters: L,  $H_{min}$ , U, and  $H_{max}$ (Figure 3). L was the Cultus recruit abundance below which no harvest was taken and at

which the minimum proportional harvest rate,  $H_{min}$ , was the management target, and U was the Cultus recruit abundance above which the maximum proportional harvest rate,  $H_{max}$ , was the target. Between L and U, targets were a linear function of abundance. This state-dependent, time-independent harvest rule generated the desired, or target, harvest rate,  $H_{tar}$ , from the simulated annual abundance of Cultus sockeye recruits. Alternative management actions (different harvest rules) were defined by different combinations of values for L,  $H_{min}$ , U, and  $H_{max}$ .

I did a preliminary analysis in which I explored a wide range of shapes of harvest rules, as defined by these ranges of parameters:  $1000 < L < 50,000, 0.1 < H_{min} < 0.95$ , 1000 < U < 200,000, and  $0.1 < H_{max} < 0.95$ . This preliminary analysis indicated that values of L and  $H_{min}$  at the higher ends of these ranges resulted in lower long-term gross commercial revenues than other parameter values, even though the biological conservation objectives may have been met. Those harvest rules were thus sub-optimal and were not considered further. Therefore, I more thoroughly explored parameter values in these ranges:  $1000 < L < 10,000, 0.1 < H_{min} < 0.2, 1000 < U < 140,000, and <math>0.1 < H_{max} < 0.95$  and only report those results here.

Ideally, implementation uncertainty would be represented as a relation between annual recruitment and the resulting actual escapement (e.g., Robb and Peterman 1998) with stochastic variation around it. However, the available data for the late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks showed no such relation. Instead, to generate random implementation uncertainty on the target harvest rate, I used a *beta* distribution (Morgan and Henrion 1990) to represent the deviation of the actual harvest rate,  $H_{act}$ , from the

target proportional harvest rate,  $H_{tar}$ , which was calculated each year from the harvest rule. This distribution constrained the actual proportional harvest rate to between 0 and 1:

(1) 
$$H_{act} = beta(\beta_h, \gamma_h)$$

where values of  $\beta_h$  and  $\gamma_h$  were the *beta* distribution's shape parameters, with  $\beta_h = H_{tar}$  for a given year and  $\gamma_h = 0.1$ . In years with Cultus recruit abundance less than L,  $H_{tar}$  and  $H_{act}$  were both set to zero to simulate a closure of the fishery.

## Model to calculate outcomes, taking into account uncertainties

I first provide a general overview of the model; details follow in the next sections. I simulated annual changes in abundance of the Cultus Lake sockeye stock using a stochastic population model that incorporated uncertainties in each life stage and implementation uncertainty in harvest rate (Figure 4). I also modeled the population dynamics of other major late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks that migrate through fishing areas along with Cultus sockeye. The model calculated the abundance of, and harvest taken from, each stock at the end of every year. At the end of each year during the recovery period (1 to T, or 20 years, for the baseline recovery objective), the model determined whether the Cultus stock had recovered (whether the 4-year running average of spawner abundance reached X, or 20,000). If the Cultus stock successfully recovered within T years, the model continued to simulate and check the stock's abundance at the end of each year (T to T + Y years, as indicated in the long-term survival objective) to determine whether the 4-year running average of spawner abundance had dropped below the quasi-extinction threshold Q, or 1000. At the end of a simulation of 120 (T + Y) years, the model calculated the long-term gross commercial revenue from the price and harvest of all late-run stocks over T + Y years, as well as the mean annual gross revenue.

The above life history model was embedded in a stochastic simulation framework to calculate values for the three main indicators of the objectives ( $Pr_{rec}$ ,  $Pr_{qext}$ , and expected gross commercial revenue from the catch) using the methods described below. Various management options (i.e., sets of parameter values that determined the shapes and axis scales of state-dependent harvest rules, as in Figure 3) were evaluated in the context of stochastic processes that represented several uncertain states of nature. Uncertainties included here were (1) parameters of the spawner-to-smolt relation for the Cultus stock, which reflected uncertainty about depensatory mortality, (2) a stochastic process for the smolt-to-adult relation for the Cultus stock, (3) a stochastic process in the stock-recruit relation for each non-Cultus sockeye stock, and (4) implementation uncertainty affecting the outcome of applying the harvest rule. These uncertainties are described below along with the basic model components.

#### Data sources

Historical abundances for all late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks came from a database maintained by the Pacific Salmon Commission (Michael Lapointe, personal communication, Pacific Salmon Commission, 1155 Robson St., Vancouver, B.C.). Stock-recruit data for the main six non-Cultus stocks were from brood years 1948-1996 (Weaver, Harrison Rapids, Adams, Portage, Shuswap, and Birkenhead). Cultus spawner-to-smolt data and smolt-to-adult data included all brood years for which the abundances of both 1- and 2-year-old smolts were estimated, for years when freshwater productivity was unlikely to be affected by predator-control projects, and for years in which spawner estimates were unlikely to be confounded by excessive pre-spawning mortality. These criteria left 1951, 1954-60, 1965-71, 1974-54, and 1988-89. I excluded the 1920s and

1930s because large predator-control projects and hatchery experimentation took place at Cultus Lake during those years. I did not use data from 1995 to the present because of extremely high pre-spawning mortality rates during those years (Schubert et al. 2002, PSC 2003). Also, the spawner abundances for 1988 and 1989 were adjusted upward because the counting fence was in operation for an unusually brief time in those years (Mike Bradford, personal communication, DFO, Burnaby, B.C.). Although predatorcontrol projects could have affected smolt production for the 1967 and 1989-1991 brood years, M. Bradford (personal communication) concludes that these projects were small enough that they likely had little-to-no effect on the smolt-per-spawner ratio for those years. Estimates of pre-spawning mortality rates for the Cultus Lake sockeye stock were from Schubert et al. (2002).

## Cultus stock

The model of the Cultus Lake sockeye stock was divided into several life stages. First, it was initialized with spawner abundances from 1998-2001 (Table 2). A modified Beverton-Holt model (Myers et al. 1995) incorporated depensation into the Cultus sockeye spawner-to-smolt relation:

(2)  $Sm_t = ((a^*S_t^d)/(1 + (S_t^d/K)))^* \exp(v_t)$ 

where  $Sm_t$  is the abundance of smolts generated from the spawners,  $S_t$ , in a given brood year t, and a, d, and K are parameters;  $v_t$  is assumed to be a normally distributed error term with a mean of 0 and a variance of  $\sigma^2_{v}$ . Equation 2 represents a standard Beverton-Holt curve when d = 1; depensation occurs when d > 1, and hypercompensation occurs when d < 1 (Myers et al. 1995). The three parameters of this model were considered to be uncertain states of nature in the analysis, as estimated by a Bayesian joint posterior

probability distribution (Gelman et al. 2004) based on historical spawner-to-smolt data for the Cultus stock. These data and the best-fit relation are shown in Figure 5. Appendix 1 gives details of the Bayesian calculations that produced marginal posterior probability distributions for the parameters a, d, and K (Figure 6).

The Cultus smolt-to-adult-recruits relation was

$$(3) R_t = c Sm_t^b \exp(g_t)$$

where  $R_t$  is the abundance of Cultus adult recruits from brood year t,  $Sm_t$  is Cultus smolts from brood year t, c and b are parameters, and the error term,  $g_t$ , is  $\sim N(0, \sigma_g^2)$ . Parameters c, b, and  $\sigma_g^2$  (Table 3) were estimated via least squares regression.

The number of recruits to the Cultus spawning stock in a given calendar year  $(R_{yr})$  was composed of 4-year-old recruits from brood year t and 5-year-old recruits from brood year t-1:

(4)  $R_{yr} = (p_4 * R_t) + (p_5 * R_{t-1})$ 

where  $p_4$  and  $p_5$  are the probabilities that a Cultus fish will return at age 4 or age 5, as calculated from the average annual proportions in the historical data (Table 3). Here,  $p_5 =$ 1 -  $p_4$ . Escapement past the fishery, *E*, was the abundance of recruits minus fish harvested:

(5)  $E_{t+4} = R_{yr} - (R_{yr} * H_{act})$ 

where the actual harvest rate,  $H_{act}$ , reflected the beta-distributed random implementation uncertainty described in equation 1. Spawner abundance was escapement minus fish that die from pre-spawning mortality:

(6) 
$$S_{t+4} = E_{t+4} - (E_{t+4} * PSM)$$

where *PSM* is a fixed proportional pre-spawning mortality rate that was assumed constant due to lack of a predictive model. The baseline PSM rate of 0.1 (Table 1) is similar to historical PSM rates in decades prior to the elevated rates of the mid-1990s.

#### Other late-run stocks

Spawner abundance for non-Cultus stocks was initialized with historical data from 1998-2001 (Table 2), except for the Harrison Rapids stock, which was initialized with data from 1998-2000 because it recruits mainly as 3- and 4-year-olds, as opposed to the other late-run stocks, which recruit mainly at ages 4 and 5. The Ricker stock-recruit relation for each non-Cultus late-run stock was

(7) 
$$RL_{t,s} = \alpha_s * SL_{t,s} * \exp((-\beta_s * SL_{t,s}) + w_t)$$

where  $RL_{t,s}$  is the abundance of adult recruits for a given non-Cultus stock, *s*, from a given brood year *t*,  $SL_{t,s}$  is the same except for spawners rather than adult recruits,  $\alpha_s$  and  $\beta_s$  are parameters for a given stock *s* (or cycle-line specific for cyclic stocks: Shuswap, Adams, and Portage), and  $w_t$  is an autocorrelated error term,

(8) 
$$w_{t,s} = \rho_s * w_{t-1,s} + u_s$$

where the parameter  $\rho_s$  is the autocorrelation coefficient for stock *s*,  $w_{t-1,s}$  is the error from the previous year (or previous year of that cycle line for cyclic stocks) for stock *s*, and  $u_s$ is  $\sim N(0, \sigma_{u,s}^2)$ . Parameters were estimated via least squares regression based on historical data for each non-Cultus stock (Table 4).

As with the Cultus stock, recruits in a given year for each non-Cultus stock were composed of a given proportion of age-4 and age-5 returns (eq. 4), except for the Harrison Rapids stock, which recruited mainly at age 3 and age 4 (Table 4). Escapement past the fishery and escapement to the spawning grounds for each stock were calculated as for the Cultus stock (eq. 5 and 6). The actual harvest and pre-spawning mortality rates for the Cultus stock in a given year were also applied to all other late-run stocks in that year.

## **Performance measures**

The gross commercial revenue from harvesting late-run Fraser River sockeye in each year was the sum of fish harvested from each stock multiplied by a fixed price per fish (estimated in Appendix 2). During a simulation of 120 (T + Y) years, the model recorded whether the Cultus stock recovered and, if so, the year of recovery (to determine whether the stock met the recovery objective, objective #1), as well as whether the Cultus stock went quasi-extinct and, if so, the year of quasi-extinction (to determine whether the stock met the long-term survival objective, objective #2). The model also recorded the long-term gross commercial revenue from the harvest of all late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks over the 120 years.

#### Monte Carlo trials for decision analysis

The Monte Carlo procedure for this decision analysis (Figure 7) began with calculating a posterior probability for every combination of parameters a, d, and K of the Cultus spawner-to-smolt relation (one combination = a "scenario"). As illustrated in Figure 6 and described in Appendix 1, I used 16 different values for a, 14 for d, and 15 for K, for a total of 3360 different combinations of these parameters, or different "scenarios".

I simulated the life history and harvest of all late-run stocks for 120 years using Monte Carlo (MC) trials for each scenario of Cultus spawner-to-smolt parameters in

order to account for uncertainty in other parameters and relations in the model, as described above. Only 40 MC trials were necessary for each scenario because the coefficient of variation in the probability of recovery over the test runs was less than 0.05 at  $\geq$  40 MC trials, and the probability of recovery was the output measure with the greatest amount of variation. Once the model completed the MC trials for a given scenario of Cultus spawner-to-smolt parameters, it calculated the proportion of trials in which the Cultus stock recovered  $(Pr_{rec})$ , the proportion in which it recovered and then went quasi-extinct  $(Pr_{qext})$ , and the mean gross commercial revenue from the harvest of all late-run stocks across trials. For a single harvest rule (defined by the 4 parameters in Figure 3), the 120-year simulation ran 40 times for each of 3360 scenarios, or a total of 134,400 times (Figure 7). The model calculated the expected (weighted average) probability of those three performance measures by weighting results for each scenario by the Bayesian posterior probability for that scenario (i.e., combination of a, d, and K). The model then determined whether the recovery and long-term survival objectives were met under that harvest rule by comparing the expected  $Pr_{rec}$  and  $Pr_{qext}$  to  $Z_1$  and  $Z_2$ , respectively.

## **Ranking of management actions**

I repeated these procedures for each new combination of the harvest rule parameters in Figure 3 and re-calculated the expected performance measures (Figure 7). Once simulations were completed for the different harvest rules, the subset of 4parameter harvest rules that met the first two objectives were ranked according to the third objective (gross commercial revenue).

## Sensitivity analyses

To identify key uncertainties that have the greatest effect on the choice of management actions, I performed sensitivity analyses on pre-spawning mortality rate and the parameters of the management objectives (Table 1). This model easily allows for changes to other assumptions and factors that I did not explore because they were beyond the scope of this project. Those factors include the impacts of future changes in adult body size on both fecundity and revenue from harvest, the effect of using different values of the parameters of the beta distribution used to calculate implementation uncertainty, and the inclusion of a more comprehensive economic indicator resulting from a full economic analysis of the costs and benefits associated with the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye.

## Results

The analysis produced many cases of individual Monte Carlo trials for which, within the first 20 years, the Cultus stock recovered, did not recover, or recovered but then went quasi-extinct (Figure 8). Results of all simulations across different harvest rules can be efficiently described in terms of  $Pr_{rec}$ , or the estimated probability of recovery for Cultus sockeye, which was compared to  $Z_I$ , the desired probability of recovery (Figure 9). Each harvest rule has four parameters, so to represent different harvest rules in this figure, I fixed  $H_{min}$  at either 0.1 or 0.2 and L at either 1000 or 10,000 and varied U and  $H_{max}$  for each of these four combinations of L and  $H_{min}$ . I used these four combinations of L and  $H_{min}$  because, as mentioned previously, preliminary simulations indicated that higher values of L and  $H_{min}$  resulted in lower long-term

economic values. Therefore, my results show only a subset of the harvest rules that meet the conservation objectives.

Under baseline management objectives (Table 1) and for each combination of Land  $H_{min}$ , all harvest rules represented in Figure 9 by the combination of U and  $H_{max}$ parameters in the area to the right of the  $Z_1 = 0.9$  isopleth, for example, allowed the Cultus sockeye stock to meet that recovery objective, i.e., produced a probability  $(Pr_{rec})$ greater than 0.9 that the abundance of Cultus spawners will reach 20,000 by year 20. Boundaries of acceptable harvest rules under recovery objectives with different values of  $Z_l$  can be used to determine whether a given combination of U and  $H_{max}$  will meet a given value of  $Z_l$  (Figure 9). For example, in Figure 9C, if L = 1000,  $H_{min} = 0.2$ , U = 80,000 and  $H_{max} = 0.6$ , this harvest rule will meet a recovery objective in which  $Z_1 = 0.9$ . However, if U is reduced to 60,000, the harvest rule no longer falls within the range that satisfies  $Z_{I}$  = 0.9, although it would satisfy  $Z_I = 0.8$ . Also, this figure shows that changes to the values of  $H_{min}$  and L among panels A to D cause the boundaries of combinations of U and  $H_{max}$ that meet a given  $Z_I$  to shift, but do not change the general pattern of these boundaries. The 52 harvest rules that met objective 1 with  $Z_1 = 0.9$  show a range of shapes (Figure 10).

Under baseline management objectives and simulation parameters, management objective 2, or the probability ( $Pr_{qext}$ ) of the Cultus stock recovering and then subsequently going below the quasi-extinction abundance of 1000 spawners, proved to be inconsequential. No harvest rule of those examined here (with a  $Pr_{rec} > 0.6$ ) produced a probability ( $Pr_{qext}$ ) that exceeded the  $Z_2$  value of 0.05 (Tables 5-8).

Because every harvest rule that met a recovery objective (defined by its X, T, and  $Z_1$ ) also met the long-term survival objective (defined by Q, Y, and  $Z_2$ ), I ranked all harvest rules meeting a given recovery objective according to the expected gross commercial revenue from the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye (Tables 5-8 for  $Z_1 = 0.6, 0.7, 0.8, \text{ and } 0.9, \text{ respectively}$ ). Rankings are shown, as well as both the expected long-term and mean annual gross commercial revenue from the harvest for each harvest rule. For the baseline case, when  $Z_1 = 0.9$ , harvest rule #43 met that recovery goal as well as provided the highest long-term gross revenue from the harvest (Table 5). That rule's shape parameters were  $L = 10,000, H_{min} = 0.2, U = 65,000, H_{max} = 0.63$  (Figure 10). The expected gross revenue from this harvest rule was \$5.241 billion over 120 years or a mean of \$43.68 million annually.

Although a single expected (weighted average) gross commercial revenue was calculated for each harvest rule, there was a range of possible economic outcomes with varying probabilities of occurrence, such as in Figure 11, which was based on the 3360 scenarios of parameters for the Cultus spawner-to-smolt relation. To calculate the expected gross revenue, each individual outcome was weighted according to the posterior probability for the scenario that produced it.

For harvest rules that allowed the Cultus stock to recover under baseline conditions and management objectives ( $Z_1 = 0.9$ ), the expected year of recovery was consistently around year 14 or 15 (Table 5), but there was a probability distribution of year of recovery under each harvest rule (e.g., Figure 12). The expected percent of years (of a total of 120) with no harvest ranged from 0.2% to 3.6% (due to fishery closures when Cultus recruit abundance was below *L*), while the expected percent of years with
small harvest (target proportional harvest rate <0.2) ranged from 0.2% to 13.2% (Table 5).

## Sensitivity analyses

#### Desired probability of recovery $(Z_l)$

The expected gross commercial revenue from harvesting late-run Fraser River sockeye salmon with the highest-ranked harvest rule decreased nonlinearly with increasing desired probability of recovery ( $Z_1$ ) for the Cultus stock (e.g., Figure 13). If  $Z_1$ was decreased from 0.9 to 0.8, the expected gross revenue of the highest-ranked harvest rule increased by \$2.7 million per year (6%), whereas changing  $Z_1$  from 0.7 to 0.6 increased gross revenue by only \$1.7 million per year (3%).

For each value of  $Z_l$  (0.6, 0.7, 0.8, and 0.9), the harvest rule with the highest gross revenue had a relatively low U (ranging from 20,000 up to 65,000), which was the abundance at which the maximum percent harvest rate would occur (Figure 3). This was true even though the Cultus stock could still meet the recovery and survival objectives with U values as high as 120,000 or 140,000 if  $H_{max}$  was correspondingly changed (Figure 10, Tables 5-8). Changes in the estimated probability of recovery ( $Pr_{rec}$ ) for the Cultus stock also resulted in small changes in the expected year of recovery for that stock. As  $Pr_{rec}$  increased, the earliest expected year of recovery decreased (Figure 14).

## Alternative management objectives

An additional objective of concern to many fisheries managers is to minimize the number of years with little or no commercial harvest while still meeting the recovery and long-term survival objectives for Cultus sockeye. To achieve this, in the harvest rule of Figure 3, a manager would want to minimize L, the number of Cultus recruits below which no harvest is taken, given the other constraints. Many harvest rules with low L did not meet the recovery and survival objectives; however, all harvest rules in Tables 5-8 did meet them and had either L = 1000 or L = 10,000. In most simulations with harvest rules that allowed Cultus sockeye to recover to a spawner abundance of 20,000 by year 20, the trajectory of population growth was such that Cultus sockeye were able to produce 1000 recruits in the first few years. Thus, when L = 1000, the expected number of years with no harvest was typically less than 1. However, because the first years of the model were initialized with the low spawner abundances from 1998-2001 (Table 2), and given the population's rate of recovery, the Cultus stock was not often able to produce 10,000 recruits until year 5 or 6, in the second 4-year period. Thus, when L was 10,000, the expected number of years with no harvest with no harvest was typically around 4 or 5.

A harvest rule that was robust to this alternative management concern about years with little or no fishing, while still meeting the other baseline management objectives, was the highest-ranked harvest rule on Table 5 that had L = 1000. Harvest rule #22 on Table 5 met these conditions. This harvest rule was ranked fourth according to the economic objective and had an expected mean gross revenue of only \$300,000 per year less than rule #43, the highest-ranked harvest rule (a decrease of less than 1%). Rule #22 had the minimum expected number of years with no harvest and so was more robust to the consideration of this alternative management objective.

Tradeoffs between gross commercial revenue from the catch and the frequency of little or no fishing can also be visualized (Figure 15). When the 52 harvest rules that met

the conservation objectives for the baseline case (in which  $Z_I = 0.9$ ) are ranked by gross revenue from the catch, there is relatively little difference in gross revenue among the top 40 rules but considerable difference in the proportion of years with little or no fishing (Figure 15A). If managers wished to have no closures, the harvest rule that ranked 4th economically (rule #22, Table 5) would be best (no closures). However, if 3% of years with little or no fishing were acceptable, any of the rules ranked 1-3 (rules #43, 44, and 42) would be appropriate, but would produce a less than 1% increase in expected gross revenue when compared with rule #22. Similar logic could be used to make tradeoffs if rules were first ranked based on the proportion of years with little or no catch (Figure 15B).

Another possible management objective could be to allow the Cultus stock to recover as soon as is reasonably possible. This would require managers to make tradeoffs between the expected year of recovery and expected gross commercial revenue. For example, changing the desired probability of recovery ( $Z_I$ ) from 0.8 to 0.9 led to a small decrease in the earliest possible expected year of recovery for the Cultus stock from about 15.2 to 14.6 (Figure 14). However, this change also led to a decrease in expected mean annual gross revenue from about \$47 million to \$44 million.

#### Pre-spawning mortality

In a sensitivity analysis on PSM, the Cultus stock did not meet the baseline recovery goal (recovering to a spawner abundance of 20,000 by year 20) if the constant PSM rate was 0.5 or above, even if no harvest was taken. To test the importance of obtaining a good estimate of PSM, I used the harvest rule that gave the highest gross revenue while satisfying  $Z_I = 0.9$  when PSM was set at the baseline value of 0.1 (rule

#43, Table 5), but I then performed the analysis with PSM set to 0.2 and 0.3. This represented situations in which PSM is underestimated and, therefore, a sub-optimal harvest rule is used. When the PSM rate was set to 0.2, the Cultus stock had a 0.7 probability of recovery ( $Pr_{rec}$ ), and when PSM rate was set to 0.3, the probability of recovery dropped to 0.42 (Table 9). Gross revenue also decreased when the actual PSM was higher than estimated. Expected mean annual gross revenue decreased by about \$1.2 million when PSM was 0.2 (2.7% less than the baseline expected value), and dropped another \$1.5 million when PSM was 0.3 (6.1% less than the baseline expected value).

#### Price per fish

The estimated price per fish (Appendix 2) was based on body size data from a troll test fishery. The size-selectivity of the gear in that test fishery may differ from that of the gear used in the commercial fishery, which would lead to a somewhat inaccurate estimate of the commercial price per fish. More importantly, future prices for fish cannot be known. Changes in price per fish would not lead to changes in the rank order of harvest rules in Tables 5-8; they would only lead to a change in the magnitude of gross commercial revenue for each harvest rule. For example, a 10% increase from \$6.96 to \$7.65 in mean processed price per kg round would lead to a corresponding 10% increase in gross revenue for each harvest rule and would cause the curve in Figure 13 to shift upward by 10%. Similarly, if a 2- or 3-decade decrease in body weight per fish from 3.14 kg to 2.83 kg would lead to a corresponding 10% decrease in gross revenue for each harvest rule and would cause the gross revenue for each harvest rule and would be a mean weight per fish from 3.14 kg to 2.83 kg would lead to a corresponding 10% decrease in gross revenue for each harvest rule and would cause the gross revenue for each harvest rule and would cause in gross revenue for each harvest rule and would be a mean weight per fish from 3.14 kg to 2.83 kg would lead to a corresponding 10% decrease in gross revenue for each harvest rule and would cause the curve in Figure 13 to shift downward by 10%.

## **Biological feasibility of recovery**

Part of the mandate of recovery teams under SARA is to determine whether the recovery of a stock is biologically feasible. I calculated the mean spawner-per-spawner ratio over the first 20 years of the model for the 40 MC trials within a given scenario, and the weighted average of this value across scenarios for a given harvest rule. The first 20 years were when the Cultus stock was increasing the most rapidly and thus give the best estimate of the stock's productive potential. I calculated this ratio for the most biologically conservative harvest rule (no harvest over 120 years) and the least conservative harvest rule presented here, the highest ranked harvest rule when  $Z_1 = 0.6$  (rule #32, Table 8). With no harvest, the average spawner-per-spawner ratio was 5.7, and other harvest rules presented here presumably fall within this range. These levels of productivity are realistic and indicate that recovery of the Cultus stock, as defined here, is indeed feasible under certain conditions.

# Discussion

These analyses lead to two types of conclusions: specific quantitative ones and more general conclusions about the utility of this type of modelling. In the first category, results indicate that, under many of the parameter conditions explored, the two conservation objectives (short-term recovery and long-term survival) can be met by certain harvest rules that still allow fishing in most years (Figure 9, Tables 5-8). Among these harvest rules that met the conservation objectives, there were several that gave similar gross commercial revenues but that differed in the number of years with little or no fishing.

Although the model indicated that recovery of the Cultus stock is biologically feasible, recovery of the Cultus stock has not been seen in recent years. One likely reason for the discrepancy between the modeling results and the actual state of the Cultus stock is that in the model the target harvest rate in each year was based solely on the abundance of Cultus recruits, and the harvest rules were chosen with the purpose of allowing the Cultus stock to recover. In reality, the target harvest rate has historically generally been set by the Fisheries and Oceans Canada with the entire late-run aggregate in mind, particularly the much more abundant stocks, and with much less importance placed on smaller stocks such as the Cultus stock. Also, factors not included in my model, such as unusually low freshwater or marine survival rates, or elevated pre-spawning mortality rates such as those seen in the mid-1990s, can hold the stock at lower abundances in the field than in the model.

The ability of any harvest rule to meet conservation objectives was critically dependent upon the assumed pre-spawning mortality rate (PSM), for which we do not understand the causes of variation. This result emphasizes the need to better understand the elevated PSM rates for late-run Fraser River sockeye in the late 1990s and early 2000s and to improve predictions of PSM. An example is the research being conducted by Cooke et al. (2004). Although at this time little is known about the exact causes and interactions among contributing factors, Cooke et al. are exploring possible causes for early migration to freshwater and its associated elevated PSM. Their hypotheses are related to energetics, osmoregulation, oceanic conditions, in-river conditions, and parasites, among others. Since in my model the Cultus stock did not recover at PSM rates of 0.5 or higher, enhancement may become increasingly important for survival of the

Cultus stock if PSM rates rise above 0.5 again. However, I simulated PSM as a constant. Episodic patterns of PSM rates may permit the Cultus stock to recover if PSM only rises above 0.5 for a few years, although harvest rules may need to be more conservative than when PSM is a constant at 0.1. Because underestimating PSM can severely reduce the probability of recovery and the economic value of harvest, managers may wish to build a conservative safety margin into their choice of harvest rules until scientists are better able to predict PSM rates. These arguments concerning PSM are equally applicable to other factors that are poorly understood and difficult to forecast, such as trends in freshwater productivity, which in these analyses was governed by the spawner-to-smolt relation's joint posterior probability distribution (independent of time), and the marine survival rate of Cultus Lake sockeye smolts, which was reflected as stochastic variation around an underlying smolt-to-adult relation.

As for general conclusions of this work, it is clear that a modelling approach such as the one presented here can be useful in formulating recovery plans for endangered species. For instance, the quantitative statement of a recovery goal, Pr(S > X by year T) >  $Z_I$ , is useful because it translates a general, or aspirational conservation goal, into a specific operational objective (BRWG 1994; Peters and Marmorek 2001; de la Mare 2005). The desired and actual ability to meet the goal in a specified period (S > X by year T) were expressed in probabilistic terms ( $Z_I$  and  $Pr_{rec}$ ), which reflects the reality that there is uncertainty about reaching the goal. The stochastically generated probability distributions for the performance indicators ( $Pr_{rec}$ ,  $Pr_{qext}$ , and gross commercial revenue) thus permit a richer set of management objectives than would otherwise be possible. Stating the objectives in this format also allows a range of values for the parameters of

the objectives to be explored, which is useful because there is no single easily-agreedupon objective. For example, the quasi-extinction level, Q, could be set to equal the minimum viable population level, the "endangered" threshold under IUCN criteria, or some other value at the managers' discretion. Managers can also vary the recovery goal (X) and the time frame (both T and Y) to reflect their preferences. For example, potential recovery targets for Cultus Lake sockeye could be set according to the lake's productive capacity (photosynthetic rate model, Shortreed et al. 2000), S<sub>MSY</sub> (the spawner abundance at maximum sustainable yield over the long term), historical average abundance, an appropriate level for adequate ecosystem function, or other measures (Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team 2004).

The modelling approach used here can also incorporate several management objectives and can provide results that are useful for examining tradeoffs. Many managers find it difficult to make decisions about recovery planning because of potential decreases in economic benefits that must be traded off against biological conservation objectives. Models like the one developed here allow scientists to present managers with information to make explicit tradeoffs between indicators of economic outcomes and species recovery, for example. Such explicit information about tradeoffs can also assist in discussions and negotiations with user groups.

For example, managers can use information such as the nonlinear relation in Figure 13 to determine whether a \$5 million per year (11%) increase in expected mean annual gross revenue is worth the associated decrease in probability of recovery from 0.9 to 0.7. Managers can also take into account an indicator of expected year of recovery (Figure 14). When other management objectives are added, the rank order of harvest

rules may change. Ideally, managers may use results from this type of model to find management actions that perform well (are robust to) a variety of management objectives, such as maximizing expected gross revenue while minimizing the expected number of years with no harvest.

For endangered stocks and species for which recovery may have large decreases in economic benefits, such as the Cultus sockeye, these types of results can allow managers to determine the economic value of protecting or not protecting the stock. The Canadian Minister of the Environment cited excessive costs as a reason to not list the Cultus stock as "Endangered" under the Species at Risk Act, but this conclusion was based on analyses (e.g., GSGislason and Associates, Ltd. 2004) that focused on costs and overlooked social and economic benefits associated with protecting and generating recovery of the stock. The Gislason report only examined the economic costs of restricting harvest on the late-run Fraser River sockeye to achieve various levels of Cultus sockeye spawner escapement for one year, 2004. The report did not include corresponding decreases in costs associated with a reduced harvest, such as reduced costs of labor, maintenance, fuel, and boats, and did not include any projections of long-term economic value (Gross et al. 2004). Depending on the economic factors included in the model and the parameter values used, stochastic simulation models such as the one used here may give a more accurate and complete assessment of costs and benefits associated with recovery and may show that the decreased harvest rates necessary to allow Cultus sockeye to recover may also allow other late-run stocks to rise to higher abundances, leading to higher catch and greater benefits in the long run than initially expected.

In this model, the starting abundances for most simulated late-run stocks were below S<sub>msy</sub> for each given stock (Table 2). Also, the late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks tend to have relatively high harvest rates at MSY  $(H_{msy})$  (Table 2). The lower harvest rates that allowed the Cultus stock to recovery also allowed the other late-run stocks to be rebuilt, which may explain why the expected revenue showed a relatively weak dependence on the choice of harvest rule. As illustrated in Figure 14, when Prrec declined by 11% from 0.9 to 0.8, expected gross revenue only declined 6% from \$46.4 to \$43.7 million. If the other late-run stocks were initially at abundances near their respective MSY's, then the low harvest rates that allow the Cultus stock to recover in the first 20 years of the model would not lead to rebuilding of the other late-run stocks. In that case, the low harvest rates in the initial years would lead to decreases in economic revenues, the expected revenue would be more sensitive to changes in the harvest rule, and greater variation would be apparent in the economic indicator, because any decrease in harvest rate would represent a direct decrease in the numbers harvested from the others stocks, rather than an opportunity for rebuilding.

My results also demonstrate decreases in gross revenue associated with high harvest rates. An increase in harvest rate caused the probability of recovery ( $Pr_{rec}$ ) for the Cultus sockeye stock to decrease, and in most cases this led to an increase in gross revenue (such as when  $Pr_{rec}$  decreased from 0.9 to 0.8) (Figure 14). However, below a certain threshold (around  $Pr_{rec} = 0.57$ ) the harvest rate was high enough that the late-run stocks were kept at lower abundances and the gross revenue began to decline. This demonstrates that caution must be used when putting economic interests before conservation.

In my model, none of the harvest rules I examined that produced an acceptable probability of the Cultus sockeye stock recovering (i.e., met objectives with  $Z_1 = 0.6, 0.7$ , 0.8, or 0.9) also had an unacceptable probability ( $Pr_{qext} \ge 0.05$ ) of then subsequently going quasi-extinct (Tables 5-8). This occurred because of the parameter values used for the management objective and population dynamics model. The recovery objective contained a high enough abundance (20,000 Cultus sockeye spawners) and a short enough time-frame (20 years) that if the Cultus stock was able to increase rapidly enough to meet this target, it would rarely drop back below the quasi-extinction level (1000 spawners) under the same harvest rule that allowed it to recover. However, this outcome may only be true within the bounds of the parameters considered in the model. In reality, factors not included dynamically in the model (such as very low marine survival rate or very high pre-spawning mortality rate) could still lead to extinction or quasi-extinction in cases where the model does not forecast such outcomes. Also, as described above, another reason for discrepancies between abundance of the Cultus stock in the model and in reality is that historically the target harvest rate was not adjusted to annual variations in the abundance of the Cultus stock, while in my model, this was the sole consideration in determining the target harvest rate each year. The long-term survival objective would also come into play if the recovery goal (X) was lower, the quasi-extinction level (Q) was higher, and/or the time frame for recovery (T) was longer.

In this model, the expected year of recovery increased as the probability of recovery decreased, because a decrease in probability of recovery was the result of a more aggressive harvest rule with higher harvest rates. The higher harvest rates during

the recovery period led to fewer recruits produced per spawner, and as a result the stock took longer to achieve the recovery goal.

For all harvest rules that allowed the Cultus stock to recover to a level of 20,000 spawners by year 20 and achieved a desired probability of recovery of 0.9, the expected year of recovery was consistently around year 15 (Table 5, Figure 14). This is because the first four years of the model were seeded with actual spawner abundances from 1998-2001 (Table 2). In years 1 and 2 (1998 and 1999) the Cultus stock had relatively high spawner abundances compared to years 3 and 4. These more abundant cycle lines returned in years 5 and 6, 9 and 10, and 14 and 15. The rate of recovery of the population under relatively light fishing was such that these more-abundant cycle lines did not typically exceed the recovery goal until the middle of the second decade of the simulation. Depending on values of stochastic processes and probability of recovery, the weighted average year of recovery across Monte Carlo trials could be shifted forward or back in time, but only by a year or two (Figure 14). Note, though, that compared to that weighted average recovery date, the date was much more variable among individual Monte Carlo trials for a given harvest rule (Figure 12).

My results indicate that a harvest rate that increases along with abundance of Cultus Lake sockeye recruits is economically beneficial up to a certain abundance, above which a constant proportional harvest rate maximizes gross revenue. For example, when  $Z_I = 0.9$ , the harvest rule with the highest gross revenue had U = 65,000 and  $H_{max} = 0.63$ (rule #43, Table 5), even though the stock could still meet the recovery and survival objectives with U as high as 140,000. This occurred because when U was set to a higher value, such as in rule #51 where U = 100,000 (Table 5),  $H_{max}$  had to be correspondingly

increased, in this case to 0.77, to maximize gross revenue at the higher U value. However, this increase in  $H_{max}$  led to higher proportional harvest rates in years with recruit abundance above 65,000 than would have been implemented under rule #43, leading to fewer spawners and thus fewer recruits in future generations.

#### **Future research**

The model developed here incorporated several key aspects of the life history and management of the Cultus Lake sockeye salmon, such as uncertainty about depensatory mortality in the freshwater life stage and implementation uncertainty for harvest rules. In further extensions and sensitivity analyses, it would be possible to add other features to the model to explore the importance of other uncertain parameters or factors that might have time trends or stochastic variation. For example, I used a simplistic economic measure for illustrative purposes and did not thoroughly examine factors such as discount rate, non-economic benefits of the harvest and recovery of Cultus sockeye, and costs associated with management and harvesting. My model was based on historical data for freshwater productivity, which may be declining or have declined in recent years, in which case these results would be overly optimistic. I did not include human alterations to freshwater habitat that could affect productivity, such as enhancement, predator control, or watermilfoil control. A sensitivity analysis on freshwater productivity could indicate the impacts of such changes, as well as the usefulness and effectiveness of such human intervention. Implementation uncertainty could be represented by a more complex function (e.g., Peterman et al. 2000) than the simple error distribution used here.

Also, the mean length of harvested late-run Fraser River sockeye was based on recent data (2000-2003), but mean body size was larger then than in previous years due to

a reversal of oceanographic conditions that persisted during substantial decreases in agespecific body size of Pacific salmon in the previous decades (Bigler et al. 1996; Pyper and Peterman 1999; Lapointe et al. 2004). Sensitivity analyses could be conducted using hypothesized increasing or decreasing body sizes over time, which would affect expected economic yields. These trends in body size are rarely accounted for in models, even though fecundity clearly depends on body size, as should parameters of the spawner-tosmolt relation.

The decision analysis performed here could be a useful tool in recovery planning for the Cultus sockeye. However, as cautioned above, there are still many unknown processes of variation that were not included in this model. Any one of them could potentially affect the ability of harvest rules to meet conservation and harvesting objectives. Furthermore, decisions should never be made based solely on results of models such as this one. Many other factors must be taken into account when making management decisions, including those that cannot be quantified, such as changes in biological diversity or social benefits associated with fishing. Decision analysis is by nature an iterative process, and data collected in the future may necessitate a revision of this decision analysis so that the rank order of management actions will reflect the current state of knowledge.

In conclusion, stochastic modeling and decision analysis can be useful tools for recovery planning, for examining tradeoffs associated with recovery, for examining tradeoffs between conflicting management objectives, and for identifying high-priority research topics. These are therefore important tools for managers.

As Irvine et al. (2005) note in the context of Canada's Species at Risk Act

(SARA),

Unfortunately, making tradeoffs to conserve diversity raises socioeconomic issues that can lead to hesitancy to fully embrace the goal of protecting Canada's salmon diversity....SARA provides an opportunity and legal means for management to concentrate harvest at the point where it is biologically most appropriate. It highlights that harvest remains possible even if it is not where society has previously wished to operate. SARA requires that Canadians consider the economic and social implications of guaranteeing the protection of biodiversity at these fine levels by evaluating implications prior to making a decision to legally list. In the end, society will decide the level of salmon diversity that it will protect.

These new decisions facing managers and society emphasize the need for tools, such as

those applied here, that highlight the tradeoffs associated with species recovery.

Tables

-

· ··· ···· · · · ····

**Table 1.** Baseline values for parameters of management objectives, which state that the probability must be greater than  $Z_I$  that the Cultus Lake sockeye spawner abundance, S, will reach some recovered level, X, by some year, T; and once the recovery target, X, is reached, the probability must be less than  $Z_2$  that the number of Cultus spawners will fall below some level Q over the next Y years. PSM is the constant proportional pre-spawning mortality rate for all adult late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks, including Cultus.

	Parameter	Value
Management objectives	X	20,000
	Т	20
	$Z_1$	0.9
	Q	1000
	Y	100
	<b>Z</b> 2	0.05
Biological parameter	PSM	0.1

Image: Table 2. Spawner abundances for all simulated late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks, where "Sp. year 1", "2", "3", and "4" are
iistorical spawner abundances from 1998-2001 and are used to initialize the first four years of the model, except for the Harrison
Rapids stock, which was initialized with data from 1998-2000 because it returns mainly at ages 3 and 4 years. MSY is the maximum
ustainable yield, S <sub>msy</sub> is the spawner abundance at MSY, and H <sub>msy</sub> is the proportional harvest rate at MSY. MSY for the Cultus stock
vas calculated using best-fit parameters for a modified Beverton-Holt relation (eq. 2, Figure 5) and was calculated for the other late-
un stocks using stock-specific parameters (Table 4) for a Ricker relation (eq. 7).

Stock	Cycle	Sp. year 1	Sp. year 2	Sp. year 3	Sp. year 4	MSY	S <sub>msy</sub>	H <sub>msy</sub>
Cultus	AII	1224	867	86	193	37,431	28,000	0.57
Weaver	AII	52,831	23,087	5058	13,090	425,989	183,000	0.70
Harrison	AII	4451	8564	4343		32,124	10,250	0.76
Birkenhead	AII	282,098	47,532	12,923	4341	382,852	112,000	0.77
Shuswap								
	Dominant	293,896				1,876,559	870,000	0.68
	Off-cycle		6398	38	55	26,327	4700	0.85
Portage						_		
	Dominant	22,787				64,462	13,000	0.83
	Off-cycle		4151	1183	2845	47,085	8600	0.85
Adams								
	Dominant	1,028,458				4,037,495	1,360,000	0.75
	Sub-dominant		223,206			1,421,648	450,000	0.76
	Off-cycle			433	3837	18,418	3500	0.84

**Table 3.** Parameters of the Cultus smolt-to-adult-recruit relation (eq. 3 and 4), where c and b are parameters,  $\sigma_g^2$  is the variance of the normally distributed error term g (eq. 3) that has a mean of 0, and  $p_4$  is the proportion of the stock that returns at age 4.

Parameter	Value
С	0.686
b	0.620
$\sigma^2_{g}$	0.464
p₄	0.955

**Table 4.** Stock-specific parameter values for non-Cultus late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks, where  $\alpha_s$  and  $\beta_s$  are parameters of the Ricker relation (eq. 7),  $\rho_s$  is the autocorrelation coefficient for residuals (eq. 8),  $\sigma^2_{u,s}$  is the variance of residuals of equation 8, and  $p_{4,s}$  is the proportion of the stock that returns at age 4 (eq. 4). Harrison Rapids sockeye return at age 3 and age 4, so its  $p_{4,s}$  corresponds to age 3. For Shuswap and Portage stocks, the sub-dominant lines were combined with off-cycle lines.

Stock	Cycle-line	as	$\beta_s$	$ ho_s$	$\sigma^2_{u,s}$	ρ <sub>4,s</sub>
Weaver		6.82	0.004	0.19	1.300	0.912
Harrison		8.79	0.074	0.15	0.693	0.568
Birkenhead		9.61	0.007	0.31	0.512	0.732
Shuswap						0.989
	Dominant	6.28	0.0008	0.40	0.343	
	Off-cycle	15.57	0.1826	0.01	1.304	
Portage						0.951
	Dominant	13.77	0.0644	-0.10	0.341	
	Off-cycle	15.09	0.0984	0.18	1.497	
Adams						0.988
	Dominant	8.41	0.0006	0.18	0.303	
	Sub-dominant	8.90	0.0017	-0.37	0.389	
	Off-cycle	14.63	0.2424	0.04	1.021	

51	14.6	0.002	0.002	0.2	0.2	33.70	4044	0.00	0.936	0.40	10	0.2	-	13
52	12.6	0.002	0.002	0.2	0.2	15.72	1886	0.00	0.995	0.20	-	0.2	-	4
50	15.0	0.132	0.003	15.8	0.4	34.02	4083	1.28E-03	0.903	0.94	140	0.1	-	7
44	15.2	0.079	0.002	9.5	0.2	38.36	4603	0.00	0.905	0.87	120	0.1	-	10
37	15.4	0.063	0.002	7.6	0.2	40.82	4898	0.00	0.901	0.79	100	0.1	-	6
22	15.4	0.057	0.002	6.8	0.2	42.52	5103	0.00	0.906	0.72	85	0.1	-	80
18	15.3	0.054	0.002	6.4	0.2	42.88	5146	0.00	0.906	0.70	80	0.1	-	2
6	15.1	0.050	0.002	6.0	0.2	43.18	5182	0.00	0.909	0.65	70	0.1	-	9
5	15.1	0.047	0.002	5.7	0.2	43.33	5199	0.00	0.907	0.63	65	0.1	-	ß
24	14.9	0.041	0.002	4.9	0.2	42.26	5071	00.0	0.908	0.56	50	0.1	-	4
26	14.9	0.035	0.002	4.2	0.2	42.12	5055	0.00	0.906	0.53	40	0.1	-	ო
42	14.8	0.022	0.002	2.6	0.2	39.59	4751	0.00	0.902	0.47	20	0.1	-	2
47	14.8	0.013	0.002	1.6	0.2	37.39	4487	0.00	0.901	0.44	10	0.1	-	-
Economic ranking	Year of recovery	years small harvest	years no harvest	years small harvest	years no harvest	revenue (\$ mil.)	revenue (\$ mil.)	Pr <sub>qext</sub>	Pr <sub>rec</sub>	H <sub>max</sub>	U (1000s)	H <sub>min</sub>	L (1000s)	Harvest rule
harvest.	from the	ss revenue	ased on gro	rvest rule ba	for the ha	the rank	unking" is	conomic ra	ceye. "Ec	us sock	the Cult	ry for	recove	year of
pected	is the ex	f recovery"	ly. "Year of	, respectivel	s than 0.2	ero or les	t rate of ze	nal harves	roportio	vith a p	of 120 v	rs out	of yea	number
ed	ne expect	t" refer to th	nall harvest	ber years sn	mnN", bu	arvest" a	years no h	"Number	sockeye,	Fraser s	ate-run	st of l	e harve	from th
evenue	al gross r	mean annu	e expected	/enue" is th	annual rev	ulation, "	of the sim	20 years	ver the	ckeye o	raser soo	-run F	of late	harvest
the	nue from	gross reven	e expected	venue" is th	g-term rev	2), "Lon	objective	unagement	tinct (ma	uasi-ext	going qı	l then	ing and	recover
ck	Jultus sto	lity of the C	the probabil	" <i>Pr<sub>qext</sub></i> " is t	jective 1),	ement ob	g (manage	recoverin	tus stock	he Cult	ility of t	orobab	is the p	"Pr <sub>rec</sub> "
rule.	e harvest	neters of the	$_{\rm u}$ are param	$U$ , and $H_{m}$	re L, H <sub>min</sub> ,	0.9, whe	rry $(Z_I)$ of	/ of recove	obability	sired pro	ds a des	excee	leets or	stock m
Cultus	) for the (	very (Pr <sub>rec</sub> )	llity of reco	ited probabi	the estima	or which	est rules fo	e 1). Harv	tse (Tabl	eline ca	the base	lts for	5. Resu	Table (

Economic	ranking	49	48	46	43	34	23	8	10	4	19	12	28	38	41	36	53	4	13	9	15	16	21	17	33	32	45	40
Year of	recovery	14.9	14.6	14.8	14.6	14.8	15.0	15.1	15.3	15.2	15.3	15.4	15.4	15.3	14.4	14.5	14.6	14.7	14.8	14.8	14.8	14.9	14.9	15.0	14.9	15.2	15.1	14.5
Proportion	years small harvest	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0,002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.044	0.044	0.044	0.065	0.071	0.075	0.080	0.085	0.089	0.089	0.103	0.104	0.130	0.034
Proportion	years no harvest	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.033	0.034	0.033	0.034	0.034	0.033	0.034	0.036	0.034
Number	years small harvest	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	5.3	5.3	5.3	7.8	8.5	9.0	9.7	10.2	10.7	10.7	12.3	12.5	15.6	4.1
Number	years no harvest	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	4.0	4.1	4.1	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.0	4.1	4.0	4.1	4.3	4.1
Annual	revenue (\$ mil.)	35.71	36.25	38.08	39.47	41.07	42.40	43.22	43.12	43.38	42.84	43.06	41.76	40.71	39.96	40.86	41.75	42.98	43.01	43.30	42.97	42.91	42.64	42.89	41.38	41.54	38.34	39.99
Long-term	revenue (\$ mil.)	4285	4350	4570	4737	4929	5088	5187	5175	5205	5141	5167	5012	4886	4796	4904	5010	5158	5161	5196	5157	5149	5117	5147	4965	4985	4601	4799
ú	Pr <sub>gext</sub>	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
C	Pr <sub>rec</sub>	0.914	0.925	0.915	0.938	0.918	0.907	0.902	0.910	0.904	0.902	0.903	0.904	0.906	0.928	0.924	0.906	0.906	0.903	0.904	0.905	0.915	0.923	0.910	0.934	0.900	0.905	0.916
:	H <sub>max</sub>	0.42	0.43	0.45	0.50	0.52	0.56	0.60	0.63	0.67	0.70	0.71	0.77	0.84	0.48	0.49	0.50	0.56	0.58	0.60	0.62	0.64	0.66	0.67	0.73	0.75	0.84	0.48
С	(1000s)	10	20	20	50	50	60	70	80	06	100	100	120	140	20	20	20	40	45	50	55	60	65	65	80	80	100	20
:	П <sup>щ</sup>	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2
۲	(1000s)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	10	<del>1</del> 0	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	위
Harvest	rule	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	50	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	30 30	40

continued.
5
e
Ą
Ta

led.
tinu
con
5
le
Tab

Hanjact	-		11				Long-term	Annual	Number	Number	Proportion	Proportion	Voor of	Economic
	1 (1000e)	H <sub>min</sub>	100001	Н <sub>тах</sub>	Pr <sub>rec</sub>	Pr <sub>qext</sub>	revenue	revenue	years no	years small	years no	years small		
2 Ini	(ennni)		(snnni)				(\$ mil.)	(\$ mil.)	harvest	harvest	harvest	harvest	recovery	Idining
41	10	0.2	20	0.49	0.903	0.00	4907	40.89	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	14.7	35
4	10	0.2	60	0.61	0.907	0.00	5229	43.57	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	15.0	e
43	10	0.2	65	0.63	0.906	0.00	5241	43.68	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	15.1	-
44	10	0.2	20	0.65	0.906	0.0	5234	43.62	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	15.1	2
45	10	0.2	80	0.67	0.927	0.00	5134	42.78	4.0	4.0	0.034	0.034	14.9	ର
46	9	0.2	80	0.68	0.919	0.00	5172	43.10	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	15.1	1
47	9	0.2	80	0.69	0.906	0.00	5192	43.27	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	15.1	7
48	10	0.2	100	0.73	0.947	0.00	4986	41.55	4.0	4.0	0.034	0.034	14.8	31
<b>4</b> 9	10	0.2	100	0.74	0.938	0.00	4998	41.65	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	14.9	g
20	10	0.2	100	0.76	0.916	0.00	5020	41.83	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	15.1	27
51	10	0.2	100	0.77	0.913	0.00	5056	42.13	4.1	4.1	0.034	0.034	15.2	25
22	10	0.2	120	0.84	0.915	0.00	4821	40.17	4.2	4.2	0.035	0.035	15.1	39

Table 5.	Economic ranking	40	31	12	2	13	ი	38	32	30	42	52	53	58	09	41	54	48	35	10	4	46	39	17	28	15	14
efined in	Year of recovery	15.5	15.6	15.5	15.5	15.5	15.6	15.3	15.5	15.8	15.8	15.6	15.7	15.4	15.0	15.6	14.9	14.9	15.2	15.4	15.6	15.0	15.1	15.5	15.3	15.6	15.9
igs are as d	Proportion years small harvest	0.012	0.012	0.020	0.032	0.042	0.042	0.052	0.052	0.051	0.056	0.072	0.074	0.142	0.142	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002
ımn headin	Proportion years no harvest	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.005	0.004	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002
of 0.8. Colt	Number years small harvest	1.5	1.4	2.4	3.8	5.1	5.0	6.2	6.3	6.1	6.8	8.6	8.8	17.0	17.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
very (Z <sub>1</sub> )	Number years no harvest	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
ty of reco	Annual revenue (\$ mil.)	42.45	43.42	45.24	46.29	45.16	45.46	43.03	43.33	43.53	42.32	39.45	39.21	33.28	33.16	42.44	39.19	41.53	43.20	45.32	46.03	41.77	42.46	44.50	43.71	44.66	45.15
probabili	Long-term revenue (\$ mil.)	5095	5211	5429	5555	5419	5455	5164	5200	5223	5078	4734	4705	3994	3979	5093	4703	4983	5184	5439	5524	5012	5095	5339	5245	5359	5418
s a desired	Pr <sub>qext</sub>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4.02E-03	2.99E-03	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
exceeds	Pr <sub>rec</sub>	0.825	0.804	0.802	0.801	0.828	0.804	0.895	0.872	0.820	0.827	0.848	0.825	0.808	0.886	0.803	0.889	0.883	0.860	0.820	0.802	0.894	0.883	0.841	0.891	0.848	0.813
neets or	H <sub>max</sub>	0.49	0.50	0.53	0.59	0.65	0.66	0.68	0.72	0.74	0.78	0.86	0.87	0.95	0.95	0.49	0.46	0.51	0.53	0.56	0.57	0.53	0.54	0.60	0.61	0.67	0.69
stock m	U (1000s)	10	10	20	40	09	60	75	80	80	6	110	110	130	140	10	20	4	40	40	40	50	50	60	70	80	80
Cultus	H <sub>min</sub>	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
or the (	L (1000s)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
( <i>Pr<sub>rec</sub></i> ) f	Harvest rule	-	2	ო	4	S	9	~	80	6	9	1	4	13	4	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	52	53	24	25	26

Table 6. Results for the baseline parameters (Table 1), except for Z<sub>1</sub>, which is 0.8. Harvest rules for which the probability of recovery

Economic	rankirig	36	34	26	23	25	51	9	5	24	27	19	37	47	49	56	57	59	61	62	÷	ო	33	22	16	7	-	18	20	80	29
Year of	recovery	15.4	15.6	15.8	15.9	16.1	15.8	15.3	15.4	14.9	15.3	15.4	15.2	15.4	15.6	15.2	15.5	14.9	15.0	14.9	15.2	15.2	14.9	15.0	15.1	15.2	15.3	15.1	15.1	15.6	15.3
Proportion years small	harvest	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.046	0.066	0.075	0.086	0.086	060.0	0.104	0.108	0.132	0.148	0.198	0.212	0.227	0.035	0.036	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.035	0.034	0.034	0.035	0.034
Proportion years no	harvest	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.036	0.035	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.036	0.043	0.070	0.083	0.095	0.035	0.036	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.034	0.035	0.034	0.034	0.035	0.034
Number years small	harvest	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	5.6	8.0	9.1	10.3	10.3	10.8	12.5	13.0	15.9	17.8	23.7	25.5	27.2	4.2	4.3	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.2	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.1
Number years no	harvest	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	4.3	4.1	4.0	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.4	5.2	8.4	9.9	11.4	4.2	4.3	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.2	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.1
Annual revenue	(\$ mil.)	43.09	43.21	43.74	43.85	43.74	39.54	45.83	45.88	43.77	43.72	43.98	43.05	41.56	41.27	38.23	37.30	33.24	32.14	31.05	45.25	46.06	43.22	43.93	44.61	45.83	46.41	44.03	43.97	45.49	43.67
Long-term revenue	(\$ mil.)	5171	5185	5249	5262	5249	4745	5500	5506	5252	5246	5278	5166	4988	4953	4588	4476	3988	3857	3726	5430	5527	5186	5271	5353	5499	5569	5284	5276	5459	5240
Pr <sub>qext</sub>		0	0	0	0	0	1.25E-04	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2.88E-15	1.76E-03	3.43E-03	8.14E-03	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pr <sub>rec</sub>		0.892	0.891	0.836	0.820	0.804	0.821	0.817	0.819	0.888	0.851	0.814	0.889	0.874	0.808	0.887	0.804	0.879	0.855	0.820	0.828	0.802	0.892	0.886	0.863	0.830	0.807	0.890	0.888	0.802	0.889
H <sub>max</sub>		0.71	0.72	0.75	0.76	0.77	0.91	0.55	0.61	0.61	0.67	0.68	0.68	0.76	0.78	0.85	0.88	0.93	0.94	0.95	0.54	0.55	0.55	0.56	0.57	0.59	0.60	0.62	0.62	0.66	0.70
U (1000e)	(snnni)	100	100	100	100	100	140	20	40	50	60	60	65	80	80	100	100	120	120	120	20	20	40	40	40	40	40	60	60	60	80
H <sub>min</sub>		0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
L (1000e)	(snnni)	-	-	-	-	-	-	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
Harvest	anı	27	58	53	8	31	8	33	34	35	8	37	38	<u>ଟ</u> େ	40	41	42	43	4	45	46	47	48	49	20	51	52	53	2	55	56

Table 6 continued.

ъ
۰Ū
Ē
Б.
.=
1
5
- 5
-
6
-
ଧ
-
р
ंत्व
Ë

~~~		<u> </u>					
Economic	ranking	21	45	43	44	50	55
Year of	recovery	15.6	15.3	15.7	15.8	15.4	15.7
Proportion	harvest	0.034	0.034	0.035	0.035	0.037	0.043
Proportion	harvest	0.034	0.034	0.035	0.035	0.037	0.043
Number	harvest	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.2	4.5	5.1
Number	harvest	4.1	4.1	4.1	4.2	4.5	5.1
Annual	(\$ mil.)	43.93	41.87	41.98	41.88	39.80	38.99
Long-term	(\$ mil.)	5272	5025	5038	5026	4776	4679
P.	bext	0	0	0	0	0	2.01E-11
ŗ	, rec	0.818	0.890	0.837	0.807	0.867	0.813
I	, max	0.73	0.78	0.81	0.82	0.87	0.89
n	(1000s)	80	100	100	100	120	120
I		0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
T	(1000s)	10	10	10	10	10	10
Harvest	rule	57	28	59	60	61	62

(Fr <sub>rec</sub> ) I	or me	Cultus	STOCK II.	leets of	exceens	a uesired		y ur recu	very (21)	01 0.7 011		igs are as ue		l adic J.
	-		=				Long-term	Annual	Number	Number	Proportion	Proportion	Vear of	Eronomic
rule	(1000s)	H min	(1000s)	H <sub>max</sub>	Pr <sub>rec</sub>	Pr <sub>qext</sub>	revenue (\$ mil.)	revenue (\$ mil.)	years no harvest	years small harvest	years no harvest	years small harvest	recovery	ranking
-	-	0.1	10	0.52	0.732	0.00	5409	45.07	0.2	1.4	0.0019	0.0114	15.9	21
2	-	0.1	10	0.53	0.703	0.00	5521	46.01	0.2	1.3	0.0019	0.0112	16.0	17
ო	-	0.1	40	0.61	0.727	0.00	5668	47.23	0.2	3.7	0.0019	0.0312	15.8	7
4	-	0.1	50	0.64	0.732	0.00	5585	46.54	0.2	4.4	0.0019	0.0364	15.8	5
S	-	0.1	60	0.68	0.717	0.00	5499	45.83	0.2	4.9	0.0019	0.0411	16.0	18
9	-	0.1	80	0.75	0.788	0.00	5232	43.60	0.2	6.1	0.0018	0.0508	15.9	8
7	-	0.1	80	0.77	0.716	0.00	5235	43.63	0.2	6.0	0.0018	0.0502	16.1	59
80	-	0.1	100	0.85	0.753	0.00	4865	40.54	0.2	7.7	0.0017	0.0644	16.0	æ
6	-	0.1	100	0.86	0.717	0.00	4831	40.25	0.2	8.0	0.0017	0.0664	16.1	39 3
9	-	0.2	10	0.50	0.782	0.00	5192	43.27	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	15.8	31
=	-	0.2	10	0.51	0.738	0.00	5313	44.27	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	15.9	24
12	-	0.2	20	0.54	0.735	0.00	5568	46.40	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	15.8	13
13	-	0.2	20	0.55	0.715	0.00	5672	47.27	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	15.9	5
14	-	0.2	40	0.60	0.710	0.00	5758	47.98	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	15.9	e
15	-	0.2	60	0.65	0.729	0.00	5622	46.85	0.2	0.2	0.0019	0.0019	16.0	ი
16	-	0.2	80	0.70	0.786	0.00	5447	45.39	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	16.0	20
17	-	0.2	80	0.71	0.758	0.00	5471	45.59	0.2	0.2	0.0017	0.0017	16.1	19
18	-	0.2	100	0.80	0.704	0.00	5271	43.93	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	16.4	28
19	-	0.2	120	0.85	0.792	0.00	5039	41.99	0.2	0.2	0.0018	0.0018	16.0	32
20	-	0.2	120	0.88	0.703	0.00	4971	41.42	0.2	0.2	0.0017	0.0017	16.4	35
21	-	0.2	140	0.92	0.791	2.59E-04	4687	39.06	0.2	0.2	0.0019	0.0019	15.9	40
22	-	0.2	140	0.95	0.705	6.26E-04	4392	36.60	0.5	0.5	0.0042	0.0042	16.1	44
53	10	0.1	20	0.56	0.791	0.00	5594	46.62	4.3	5.6	0.0360	0.0468	15.4	=
24	9	0.1	20	0.57	0.755	0.00	5672	47.27	4.4	5.7	0.0365	0.0475	15.5	9
25	10	0.1	20	0.59	0.703	0.00	5850	48.75	4.5	5.9	0.0376	0.0491	15.7	-
26	10	0.1	40	0.62	0.792	0.00	5561	46.34	4.2	8.0	0.0347	0.0668	15.5	14

Table 7. Results for the baseline parameters (Table 1), except for Z<sub>1</sub>, which is 0.7. Harvest rules for which the probability of recovery

Economia		Idining	80	25	23	ដ	36	37	42	N	9	4	15	16	27	26	се С	34 34	41	43
Voor of		recovery	15.6	15.6	15.6	15.7	15.7	16.0	15.6	15.7	15.5	15.6	15.7	15.8	15.8	15.9	15.9	15.9	15.7	15.8
Proportion	years small	harvest	0.0689	0.0860	0.0872	0.0883	0.1079	0.1126	0.1544	0.0374	0.0355	0.0354	0.0345	0.0349	0.0343	0.0349	0.0355	0.0368	0.0458	0.0673
Proportion	years no	harvest	0.0356	0.0342	0.0346	0.0345	0.0349	0.0359	0.0466	0.0374	0.0355	0.0354	0.0345	0.0349	0.0343	0.0349	0.0355	0.0368	0.0458	0.0673
Number	years small	harvest	8.3	10.3	10.5	10.6	12.9	13.5	18.5	4.5	4.3	4.3	4.1	4.2	4.1	4.2	4.3	4.4	5.5	8.1
Number	years no	harvest	4.3	4.1	4.2	4.1	4.2	4.3	5.6	4.5	4.3	4.3	4.1	4.2	4.1	4.2	4.3	4.4	5.5	8.1
Annual	revenue	(\$ mil.)	46.98	44.24	44.30	44.34	41.32	40.80	37.02	48.34	46.81	47.86	46.07	46.05	43.99	44.12	41.77	41.43	38.65	36.78
Long-term	revenue	(\$ mil.)	5638	5308	5316	5321	4958	4896	4442	5801	5617	5743	5529	5526	5278	5295	5012	4971	4638	4414
	Pr <sub>qext</sub>		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	6.14E-08	00.0	0.00	00.0	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	6.44E-07	6.41E-04
	Pr <sub>rec</sub>		0.716	0.789	0.770	0.728	0.789	0.702	0.762	0.718	0.775	0.726	0.754	0.710	0.792	0.765	0.774	0.745	0.789	0.711
	H <sub>mex</sub>		0.64	0.69	0.70	0.71	0.79	0.81	0.89	0.58	0.61	0.63	0.68	0.69	0.74	0.75	0.83	0.84	0.90	0.93
=	(1000e)	(ennni)	40	60	60	60	80	80	<del>1</del> 00	20	40	40	60	09	80	80	100	100	120	120
	$H_{min}$		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0,2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
-	1000e)	(enni)	10	10	10	9	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	9	10	10	10	9	10	10
Harvect			27	28	ଷ୍ପ	8	31	R	g	8	ß	98	37	æ	ଞ	4	41	4	43	4

ued.
contin
<b>N</b>
Table

Economic ranking	ω	9	20	17	27	28	29	30	35	36	ო	5	4	16	15	12	22	21	25	32	37	0	13	14	23	24
Year of recovery	16.3	16.0	16.1	16.2	16.2	16.4	16.2	16.3	16.2	16.1	16.3	16.1	16.3	16.1	16.2	16.3	16.3	16.5	16.6	16.5	16.2	15.8	15.9	16.0	15.8	16.1
Proportion years small harvest	0.0107	0.0295	0.0407	0.0399	0.0498	0.0498	0.0559	0.0567	0.0721	0.1030	0.0017	0.0019	0.0017	0.0018	0.0018	0.0018	0.0018	0.0019	0.0017	0.0019	0.0043	0.0505	0.0697	0.0708	0.0891	0.0907
Proportion years no harvest	0.0018	0.0018	0.0019	0.0017	0.0018	0.0017	0.0018	0.0018	0.0018	0.0022	0.0017	0.0019	0.0017	0.0018	0.0018	0.0018	0.0018	0.0019	0.0017	0.0019	0.0043	0.0384	0.0362	0.0366	0.0348	0.0359
Number years small harvest	1.3	3.5	4.9	4.8	6.0	6.0	6.7	6.8	8.6	12.4	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.5	6.1	8.4	8.5	10.7	10.9
Number years no harvest	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.5	4.6	4.3	4.4	4.2	4.3
Annual revenue (\$ mil.)	48.95	49.06	46.05	46.65	43.60	43.48	41.95	41.78	39.53	36.81	49.71	49.09	49.54	47.21	47.53	47.96	45.82	45.93	43.90	40.82	36.74	49.90	47.61	47.54	44,41	44.17
Long-term revenue (\$ mil.)	5874	5887	5526	5598	5232	5218	5034	5013	4744	4417	5965	5891	5945	5665	5704	5755	5498	5512	5268	4899	4409	5987	5713	5705	5329	5301
Pr <sub>gext</sub>	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	1.10E-14	6.17E-04	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	4.01E-08	1.86E-03	0.00	00.0	0.00	0.00	0.00
Pr <sub>rec</sub>	0.603	0.636	0.682	0.615	0.677	0.614	0.683	0.637	0.623	0.635	0.623	0.651	0.614	0.694	0.661	0.627	0.692	0.604	0.638	0.626	0.685	0.630	0.653	0.626	0.678	0.609
H <sub>max</sub>	0.56	0.64	0.69	0.71	0.78	0.79	0.82	0.83	0.88	0.92	0.58	0.62	0.63	0.66	0.67	0.68	0.73	0.75	0.82	0.90	0.95	0.61	0.66	0.67	0.72	0.74
U (1000s)	10	40	60	60	80	80	6	6	100	110	20	4	40	60	60	60	80	8	100	120	140	20	40	40	60	60
H <sub>min</sub>	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	<u>-</u> ,
L (1000s)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	<del></del>	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	10	10	10	10	10
Harvest rule	-	2	<i>с</i> о	4	2	9	2	80	ი	₽	7	5	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	2	22	ສ	24	25	26

Table 8. Results for the baseline parameters (Table 1), except for Z<sub>1</sub>, which is 0.6. Harvest rules for which the probability of recovery

σ
Ō
Ē
Ξ
·=
t
Ē
0
<u> </u>
_
õ
e se
le 8
ble 8
able 8
Table 8

Tronomic		IdININ	40	7	-	11	10	6	19	18	26	31	33	39
Voar of		recuvery	15.8	15.7	16.0	15.8	15.8	16.0	16.0	16.0	16.1	16.1	16.2	15.9
Proportion	years small	harvest	0.2024	0.0380	0.0388	0.0362	0.0361	0.0368	0.0357	0.0357	0.0353	0.0373	0.0413	0.0911
Proportion	years no	harvest	0.0840	0.0380	0.0388	0.0362	0.0361	0.0368	0.0357	0.0357	0.0353	0.0373	0.0413	0.0911
Number	years small	harvest	24.3	4.6	4.7	4.3	4.3	4.4	4.3	4.3	4.2	4.5	5.0	10.9
Number	years no	harvest	10.1	4.6	4.7	4.3	4.3	4.4	4.3	4.3	4.2	4.5	5.0	10.9
Annual	revenue	(\$ mil.)	33.59	48.98	50.43	48.20	48.60	48.88	46.28	46.32	43.79	41.36	40.54	34.37
Long-term	revenue	(\$ mil.)	4031	5878	6051	5783	5833	5866	5553	5558	5255	4964	4865	4124
	Pr <sub>qext</sub>		1.40E-03	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	3.51E-03
	$Pr_{rec}$		0.603	0.685	0.600	0.677	0.651	0.600	0.665	0.625	0.693	0.694	0.625	0.625
	$H_{max}$		0.93	0.59	0.61	0.64	0.65	0.66	0.70	0.71	0.77	0.85	0.87	0.95
=	100001	(ennni)	100	20	20	40	40	40	60	60	80	100	100	120
	$H_{min}$		0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
-	10000)	(snnni)	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10	10
Hanjaet		anı	29	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39	40

highest expected gross revenue satisfying  $Z_I = 0.9$  in a case where PSM = 0.1 (rule #43, Table 5). The harvest rule parameters are L =Table 9. Results when the constant pre-spawning mortality rate (PSM) is 0.2 or 0.3, but when the harvest rule is used that has the 10,000,  $H_{min} = 0.2$ , U = 65,000,  $H_{max} = 0.63$ . Column headings are as defined in Table 5.

*	5 2	i y	~		_
Voor		10000	15.07	16.04	16.66
Proportion	years small	harvest	0.0339	0.0361	0.0395
Proportion	years no	harvest	0.0339	0.0361	0.0395
Number	years small	harvest	4.1	4.3	4.7
Number	years no	harvest	4.1	4.3	4.7
Annual	revenue	(\$mil.)	43.68	42.46	40.98
Long-term	revenue	(\$mil.)	5241	5095	4918
	Pr <sub>qext</sub>		0.00	0.00	0.00
	$Pr_{rec}$		0.906	0.702	0.419
	PSM		0.1	0.2	0.3

Figures

Figure 1. Annual abundance of Cultus Lake sockeye adult spawners (escapement), 1925-2001.



Figure 2. Decision tree illustrating the main structure of this analysis. Branches emanating from the square node represent different harvest rules, each one described by a set of parameters as illustrated in Figure 3. Branches emanating from round nodes are uncertain states of nature. For each possible harvest rule, there is an uncertainty node that has a branch for every possible state of nature (combination of parameter values for the Cultus spawner-to-smolt model). The relative weighting (or probability,  $Pr_n$ ) on each uncertain state is the Bayesian joint posterior probability for a given combination of those parameters. The figure only shows a subset of the many harvest rules and uncertain states of nature.


Figure 3. Harvest rule to calculate the target harvest rate,  $H_{tar}$  (before implementation uncertainty was imposed). L is the abundance of Cultus Lake sockeye recruits at which  $H_{min}$  was the management target and below which no harvest was taken. The maximum proportional harvest rate,  $H_{max}$ , was the target above Cultus recruit abundance U.



Figure 4. Flow chart of the simulation model of life histories and management of the Cultus Lake and other late-run Fraser River sockeye stocks. PSM is pre-spawning mortality of adults that occurs in the lake, T is the time frame for recovery, and Y is the time frame for long-term survival subsequent to recovery.



Figure 5. Smolt and spawner data for the Cultus Lake sockeye stock (1951, 1954-1960, 1965-1971, 1974-1975, and 1988-1989 brood years). The curve is the best-fit modified Beverton-Holt curve (eq. 2 fit using least squares regression). The best-fit parameter values are a = 55.597, d = 1.153, and K = 69.375.



Figure 6. Marginal posterior probabilities for parameters of the modified Beverton-Holt model (eq. 2) used to represent the Cultus spawner-to-smolt relation. The discrete values shown by data points are those considered in the Bayesian analysis: (A) 16 values of the a parameter with a minimum value of 15 and an interval of 10, (B) 14 values of the d parameter with a minimum value of 0.5 and an interval of 0.1, and (C) 15 values of the K parameter with a minimum value of 20 and an interval of 20. Bounds on the uniform prior probabilities are indicated by dashed vertical lines.



Figure 7. Flow chart of the Monte Carlo procedure for finding harvest rules that satisfy the stated management objectives. Symbols are defined in the text.



Figure 8. Example simulation results of the trajectory of Cultus spawner abundance over time. The lighter line is Cultus spawner abundance. The darker line is the 4-year running average of that abundance, which was used for comparison with management objectives. (A) Case in which the Cultus stock recovers, i.e., the 4-year running average of spawner abundance (S) exceeds the recovery threshold of 20,000 (X) (horizontal dashed line) by year 20 (T) (vertical dashed line). This case used baseline parameters (Table 1); harvest rule parameters were L = 10,000,  $H_{min} = 0.1$ , U = 60,000, and  $H_{max} = 0.75$ . (B) Case in which the Cultus stock fails to recover by year 20. This case used baseline parameters (Table 1); harvest rule parameters were L = 10,000,  $H_{min} = 0.1$ , U = 60,000, and  $H_{max} = 0.83$ . (C) Case in which the Cultus stock recovered to a threshold (X) of 10,000 before year 20 but then went below a quasi-extinction threshold (Q) of 5000 at year 26. Harvest rule parameters were L = 1000, and  $H_{min} = 0.1$ , U = 60,000, and  $H_{max} = 0.94$ . Panels A, B, and C reflect examples that used, for illustrative purposes only, the best-fit values for parameters of the Cultus spawner-to-smolt relation (Figure 5).



Year

Figure 9. Isopleths of  $Pr_{rec}$ , or estimated probability of recovery for the Cultus stock, compared to  $Z_I$ , the desired probability of recovery, for combinations of harvest rule parameters L,  $H_{min}$ , U, and  $H_{max}$ .



Figure 10. Shapes of harvest rules that met both the recovery and long-term survival objectives (management objectives 1 and 2) under baseline parameters (Table 1). The boldfaced harvest rule is the highest-ranked harvest rule based on maximizing gross commercial revenue that also achieved  $Z_1 = 0.9$  and is defined by L = 1,000,  $H_{min} = 0.2$ , U = 65,000, and  $H_{max} = 0.63$  (rule #43, Table 5).



Figure 11. Example probability distribution of the expected annual gross revenue from the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye (average over 120 years). The distribution is from 134,400 Monte Carlo trials under baseline conditions (Table 1) and a harvest rule where L = 10,000,  $H_{min} = 0.1$ , U = 100,000, and  $H_{max} = 0.93$ . For economic values not shown on the graph (less than \$29.17 million), the cumulative probability is less than 0.01. Labels on the x-axis are the midpoint for each interval. The dashed vertical line represents the expected value of \$33.59.



Figure 12. Example probability distribution of year of recovery for the Cultus sockeye stock for the portion of 134,400 Monte Carlo trials in which the stock recovered to a spawner abundance of 20,000 by year 20, based on baseline conditions (Table 1) and a harvest rule where L = 10,000,  $H_{min} = 0.2$ , U = 65,000, and  $H_{max} = 0.63$ . For years of recovery not shown on the graph (below year nine), the cumulative probability was less than 0.001. The dashed vertical line represents the mean year of recovery, 15.02.



Figure 13. Expected mean annual gross revenue (\$ millions) under the highest-ranked harvest rule (based on expected revenue) from the harvest of late-run Fraser River sockeye over the next 120 years as a function of the desired probability of recovery for the Cultus Lake sockeye salmon stock ( $Z_i$ ).



Figure 14. Expected year of recovery for the Cultus sockeye stock and expected mean annual gross revenue (\$ millions) from the harvest of the late-run Fraser River sockeye as a function of probability of recovery ( $Pr_{rec}$ ) for the Cultus stock. Points on the graph represent expected year of recovery, and the solid line represents the expected mean annual gross revenue for a given probability of recovery, as defined in Figure 13. The vertical and horizontal lines intersect to show the expected mean gross revenue and the earliest expected year of recovery for probabilities of recovery equal to 0.8 and 0.9.



Figure 15. Expected mean annual gross revenue from the catch (\$ millions) and the expected proportion of years with little or no catch (proportional harvest rate  $\leq 0.2$ ) for the 52 harvest rules that met the baseline conservation management objectives ( $Z_I = 0.9$  and  $Z_2 = 0.05$ ). (A) Harvest rules ranked from left to right based on gross revenue. (B) Harvest rules ranked from left to right based on proportion of years with little or no catch.



## References

- Allendorf, F.W. and Ryman, N. 2002. The role of genetics in PVA. In Population Viability Analysis. Edited by S.R. Beissinger and D.R. McCullough. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill. pp. 50-85.
- Bigler, B.S., Welch, D.W., and Helle, J.H. 1996. A review of size trends among North Pacific Salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 53(2): 455-465.
- Biological Requirements Working Group (BRWG). 1994. Analytical methods for determining requirements of listed Snake River salmon relative to survival and recovery. Progress Report of the Biological Requirements Working Group, 13 Oct. 1994. U.S. National Marine Fisheries Service, Portland, Oreg.
- Bocking, R.C., and Peterman, R.M. 1988. Preseason forecasts of sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*): Comparison of methods and economic considerations. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 45(8): 1346-1354.
- Botsford, L.W. 1994. Extinction probabilities and delisting criteria for Pacific salmonids. Conservation Biol. 8(3): 873-875.
- Botsford, L.W., and Brittnacher, J.G. 1998. Viability of Sacramento River winter-run Chinook salmon. Conservation Biol. 12(1): 65-79.
- Bradford, M.J., and Wood, C.C. 2004. A review of biological principles and methods involved in setting minimum population sizes and recovery objectives for the September 2004 drafts of the Cultus and Sakinaw Lake sockeye salmon and Interior Fraser coho salmon recovery plans. Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Res. Doc. 2004/128. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ottawa, Ont.
- Bradford, M.J., Myers, R.A., and Irvine, J.R. 2000. Reference points for coho salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch) harvest rates and escapement goals based on freshwater production. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57(4): 677-686.
- Canada Gazette. 2005. Order giving notice of decisions not to add certain species to the list of endangered species. Available from http://canadagazette.gc.ca/partII/2005/20050126/html/si2-e.html [accessed 9 April 2006].
- Chen, D.G., Irvine, J.R., and Cass, A.J. 2002. Incorporating Allee effects in fish stockrecruitment models and applications for determining reference points. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 59(2): 242-249.
- Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) 2003. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the sockeye salmon (Cultus population) in Canada. COSEWIC, Ottawa, Ont.

- Cooke, S.J., Hinch, S.G., Farrell, A.P., Lapointe, M.F., Jones, S.M.R., Macdonald, J.S., Patterson, D.A., Healey, M.C., and Van Der Kraak, G. 2004. Abnormal migration timing and high en route mortality of sockeye salmon in the Fraser River, British Columbia. Fisheries 29(2): 22-33.
- Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team. 2004. National recovery strategy for sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*), Cultus Lake population, in British Columbia (DRAFT). Available from http://www.pac.dfo-mpo.gc.ca/comm/pages/consultations/ fisheriesmgmt/salmon/Cultus%20Lake%20Sockeye/ Cultus\_recoverystrategy04n.pdf [accessed 8 April 2006].
- de la Mare, W. K. 2005. Marine ecosystem-based management as a hierarchical control system. Mar. Policy 29(1): 57-68.
- Deriso, R.B., Marmorek, D.R., and Parnell, I.J. 2001. Retrospective patterns of differential morality and common year-effects experienced by spring and summer chinook salmon of the Columbia River. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58(12): 2419-2430.
- Ford, M., Budy, P., Busack, C., Chapman, D., Cooney, T., Fisher, T., Geiselman, J., Hillman, T., Lukas, J., Peven, C., Toole, C., Weber, E., Wilson, P. 2001. Upper Columbia River Steelhead and Spring Chinook Salmon population structure and biological requirements. Upper Columbia River Steelhead and Spring Chinook Salmon Biological Requirements Committee, Final Report, National Marine Fisheries Service, Seattle, Wash.
- Gelman, A., Carlin, J.B., Stern, H.S., and Rubin, D.B. 2004. Bayesian data analysis. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Chapman and Hall/CRC, London, UK.
- Gilhousen, P. 1990. Prespawning mortalities of sockeye salmon in the Fraser River system and possible causal factors. Bulletin XXVI. International Pacific Salmon Fisheries Commission, Vancouver, B.C.
- Gross, M.R., Montagnes, P., Parkes, M., Riis, P., Roberts, B., and Turner, M.A. 2004. Extinction by miscalculation: the threat to Sakinaw and Cultus Lake sockeye. Repository of Papers in Economics, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ont.
- GSGislason and Associates, Ltd. 2004. Socio-economic implications of the Species-At-Risk Act: Sakinaw & Cultus sockeye. Prepared for Department of Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Vancouver, B.C.
- Irvine, J.R., Gross, M.R., Wood, C.C., Holtby, L.B., Schubert, N.D., and Amiro, P.G. 2005. Canada's Species at Risk Act: An opportunity to protect "endangered" salmon. Fisheries 30(12): 11-19.

- Knudsen, E.E. 1999. Managing Pacific salmon escapements: The gaps between theory and reality. *In* Sustainable fisheries management: Balancing the conservation and use of Pacific Salmon. *Edited by* E.E. Knudsen, C.R. Steward, D.D. MacDonald, J.E. Williams, and D.W. Reiser. Ann Arbor Press, Ann Arbor, Mich. pp. 237-272.
- Knudsen, E.E., C.R. Steward, D.D. MacDonald, J.E. Williams, and D.W. Reiser (*Editors*). 2000. Sustainable Fisheries Management: Pacific Salmon. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Fla.
- Konkel, G.W., and McIntyre, J.D. 1987. Trends in spawning populations of Pacific anadromous salmonids. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Tech. Rep. 9, U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C.
- Lapointe, M., Cooke, S.J., Hinch, S.G., Farrell, A.P., Jones, S., MacDonald, S., Patterson, D., Healey, M.C., and Van Der Kraak, G. 2004. Late-run sockeye salmon in the Fraser River, British Columbia, are experiencing early upstream migration and unusually high rates of mortality What is going on? *In* Proceedings of the 2003 Georgia Basin/Puget Sound Research Conference. *Edited by* T.W. Droscher and D.A. Fraser. Available from http://www.psat.wa.gov/Publications/03\_proceedings/ PAPERS/ORAL/5c\_lapoi.pdf [accessed 8 March 2006].
- Liermann, M., and Hilborn, R. 1997. Depensation in fish stocks: A hierarchic Bayesian meta-analysis. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 54(9): 1976-1984.
- Lindley, S.T., and Mohr, M.S. 2003. Modeling the effect of striped bass (*Morone* saxatilis) on the population viability of Sacramento River winter-run chinook salmon (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*). Fish. Bull. 101(2): 321-331.
- Lord, G. E. 1976. Decision theory applied to the simulated data acquisition and management of a salmon fishery. Fish. Bull. 74(4): 837.
- Ludwig, D. 1996. Uncertainty and the assessment of extinction probabilities. Ecol. Appl. 6(4): 1067-1076.
- Lynch, M., and Lande, R. 1998. The critical effective size for a genetically secure population. Anim. Conserv. 1(1): 70-72.
- MacCall, A.D. 2002. Fishery-management and stock-rebuilding prospects under conditions of low-frequency environmental variability and species interactions. Bull. Mar. Sci. 70(2): 613-628.
- Mace, P.M. 1994. Relationships between common biological reference points used as thresholds and targets of fisheries management strategies. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 51(1): 110-122.

- MacGregor, B.W., Peterman, R.M., Pyper, B.J., Bradford, M.J. 2002. A decision analysis framework for comparing experimental designs of projects to enhance pacific salmon. N. Am. J. Fish. Manage. 22(2): 509-527.
- Maguire, L.A. 1986. Using decision analysis to manage endangered species populations. J. Environ. Manage. 22(4): 345-360.
- Marmorek, D., and Peters, C. 2001. Finding a PATH toward scientific collaboration: Insights from the Columbia River Basin. Conserv. Ecol. 5(2): 8.
- McAllister, M.K., and Kirchner, C. 2002. Accounting for structural uncertainty to facilitate precautionary fishery management: Illustration with Namibian orange roughy. Bull. Mar. Sci. 70(2): 499-540.
- McElhany, P., Ruckelshaus, M.H., Ford, M.J., Wainwright, T., and Bjorkstedt, E. 2000. Viable salmonid populations and the recovery of evolutionarily significant units. NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-NWFSC-42.
- Morgan, M.G., and Henrion, M. 1990. Uncertainty: A guide to dealing with uncertainty in quantitative risk and policy analysis. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Mossop, B., Bradford, M.J., and Hume, J. 2004. Review of northern pikeminnow (*Ptychocheilus oregonensis*) control programs in western North America with special reference to sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) production in Cultus Lake, British Columbia. Report prepared for the Cultus Sockeye Recovery Team. Vancouver, B.C.
- Myers, R.A. 2001. Stock and recruitment: Generalizations about maximum reproductive rate, density dependence, and variability using meta-analytic approaches. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 58(5): 937-951.
- Myers, R.A., Barrowman, N.J., Hutchings, J.A., and Rosenberg, A.A. 1995. Population dynamics of exploited fish stocks at low population levels. Science 269(5227): 1106-1108.
- Neave, F. 1953. Principles affecting the size of pink and chum salmon populations in British Columbia. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can. 9(4): 450-491.
- Nehlsen, W., Williams, J.E., and Lichatowich, J.A. 1991. Pacific salmon at the crossroads—stocks at risk from California, Oregon, Idaho, and Washington. Fisheries 16(2): 4-21.
- Nickelson, T.E., and Lawson, P.W.. 1998. Population viability of coho salmon, *Oncorhynchus kisutch*, in Oregon coastal basins: Application of a habitat-based life cycle model. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55(11): 2383-2392.

- Pacific Salmon Commission (PSC). 2003. Late-run Fraser River sockeye migration behavior, en route mortality, research, and fisheries management plans. Updated July 2003. Pacific Salmon Commission, Vancouver, B.C. Available from http://www.psc.org/Pubs/LateRun/LateRunUpdate2003.pdf [accessed 8 March 2006].
- Peterman, R.M. 1977. A simple mechanism that causes collapsing stability regions in exploited salmonid populations. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can. 34(8): 1130-1142.
- Peterman, R. M. 1991. Density-dependent marine processes in North Pacific salmonids: Lessons for experimental design of large-scale manipulations of fish stocks. ICES Mar. Sci. Symp. 192: 69-77.
- Peterman, R.M., and Anderson, J.L. 1999. Decision analysis: a method for taking uncertainties into account in risk-based decision making. Hum. Ecol. Risk Assess. 5(2): 231-244.
- Peterman, R. M., and Peters, C. N. 1998. Decision analysis: Taking uncertainties into account in forest resource management. *In* Statistical methods for adaptive management studies. *Edited by* V. Sit and B. Taylor. Land Management Handbook No. 42, Research Branch, B.C. Ministry of Forests, Victoria, B.C. pp. 105-127.
- Peterman, R.M., and Steer, G.J. 1981. Relation between sport-fishing catchability coefficients and salmon abundance. Trans. Amer. Fish. Soc. 110(5): 585-593.
- Peterman, R.M., Pyper, B.J.. Grout, J.A. 2000. Comparison of parameter estimation methods for detecting climate-induced changes in productivity of Pacific salmon (*Oncorhynchus* spp.). Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57(1): 181-191.
- Peterman, R.M., Steer, G.J., and Bradford, M.J. 1985. Density-dependent catchability coefficients. Trans. Amer. Fish. Soc. 114(3): 436-440.
- Peters, C.N. and Marmorek, D.R. 2001. Application of decision analysis to evaluate recovery actions for threatened Snake River spring and summer chinook salmon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58(12): 2431-2446.
- Peters, C.N., Marmorek, D.R., and Deriso, R.B. 2001. Application of decision analysis to evaluate recovery action for threatened Snake River fall Chinook salmon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 58(12): 2447-2458.
- Petersen, C.W., and Levitan, D.R. 2001. The Allee effect: A barrier to recovery by exploited species. *In* Conservation biology 6: Conservation of exploited species. *Edited by* J.D. Reynolds, G.M. Mace, K.H. Redford, and J.G. Robinson. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK. pp. 281-300.

- Pitcher T.J., Watson, R., Forrest, R., Valtýsson, H., and Guénette, S. 2002. Estimating illegal and unreported catches from marine ecosystems: a basis for change. Fish Fish. 3(4): 317-339.
- Punt, A.E., and Hilborn, R. 1997. Fisheries stock assessment and decision analysis: the Bayesian approach. Rev. Fish Biol. Fish. 7(1): 35-63.
- Pyper, B.J., and Peterman, R.M. 1999. Relationship among adult body length, abundance, and ocean temperature for British Columbia and Alaska sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*), 1967-1997. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56(10): 1716-1720.
- Rice, J.C., and Richards, L.J. 1996. A framework for reducing implementation uncertainty in fisheries management. N. Am. J. Fish. Manage. 16(3): 488-494.
- Ricker, W.E. 1941. The consumption of young sockeye salmon by predaceous fish. J. Fish. Res. Bd. Can. 5(3): 293-313.
- Robb, C.A., and Peterman, R.M. 1998. Application of Bayesian decision analysis to management of a sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*) fishery. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 55(1): 86-98.
- Rosenberg, A.A., and Brault, S. 1993. Choosing a management strategy for stock rebuilding when control is uncertain. *In* Risk evaluation and biological reference points for fisheries management. *Edited by* S.J Smith, J.J. Hunt, and D. Rivard. Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 120, pp. 243-249.
- Routledge, R.D., and Irvine, J.R. 1999. Chance fluctuations and the survival of small salmon stocks. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 56(8): 1512-1519.
- Ruckelshaus, M., Levin, P., Johnson, J., and Kareiva, P. 2002. The Pacific salmon wars: What science brings to the challenge of recovering species. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 33: 665-706.
- Runge, M.C., and Johnson, F.A. 2002. The importance of functional form in optimal control solutions of problems in population dynamics. Ecology 83(5): 1357-1371.
- Schnute, J.T., Cass, A., and Richards, L.J. 2000. A Bayesian decision analysis to set escapement goals for Fraser River sockeye salmon. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 57(5): 962-979.
- Schubert, N.D., Beacham, T.D., Cass, A.J., Cone, T.E., Fanos, B.P., Foy, M., Gable, J.H., Grout, J.A., Hume, J.M.B., Johnson, M., Morton, K.F., Shortreed, K.S., and Staley, M.J. 2002. Status of Cultus Lake sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*). Canadian Science Advisory Secretariat Res. Doc. 2002/064. Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Ottawa, Ont.

- Shortreed, K.S., Hume, J.M.B., and Stockner, J.G. 2000. Using photosynthetic rates to estimate the juvenile sockeye salmon rearing capacity of British Columbia lakes. *In* Sustainable fisheries management: Pacific salmon. *Edited by* E. E. Knudsen, C. R. Steward, D. D. MacDonald, J. E. Williams, and D. W. Reiser. CRC Press LLC, Boca Raton, Fla. pp. 505-521
- Slaney, T.L., Hyatt, K.D., Northcote, T.G., and Fielden, R.J. 1996. Status of anadromous salmon and trout in British Columbia and Yukon. Fisheries 21(10): 20-35.
- Smith, S.J., Hunt, J.J., and Rivard, D. (*Editors*) 1993. Risk evaluation and biological reference points for fisheries management. Can. Spec. Publ. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 120.
- Steigenberger, L.W. 1972. Observations on the predation by squawfish (*Ptychocheilus oregonensis*) on sockeye salmon (*Oncorhynchus nerka*), with particular reference to Cultus lake, British Columbia. M.Sc. thesis. University of British Columbia, Vancouver, B.C.
- Taylor, B.L., Wade, P.R., Ramakrishnan, U., Gilpin, M., and Akçakaya, H.R. 2002. Incorporating uncertainty in PVA for the purpose of classifying species by risk. *In* Population Viability Analysis. *Edited by* S.R. Beissinger and D.R. McCullough. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Ill. pp. 239-252.
- Tear, T.H., Kareiva, P., Angermeier, P.L., Comer, P., Czech, B., Kautz, R., Landon, L., Mehlman, D., Murphy, K., Ruckelshaus, M., Scott, M.J., and Wilhere, G. 2005. How much is enough? The recurrent problem of setting measurable objectives in conservation. BioScience 55(10): 835-849.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA). 1998. Guidelines for ecological risk assessment. EPA/630/R-95/002F. Risk Assessment Forum, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D.C.
- Walters, C.J. 1986. Adaptive Management of Renewable Resources. MacMillan Publishing Company, New York.
- Walters, C.J. and Martell, S.J.D. 2004. Fisheries Ecology and Management. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.
- Waples, R.S. 2002. Effective size of fluctuating salmon populations. Genetics 161(2): 783-791.

Appendices

## Appendix 1. Bayesian estimation of the Cultus sockeye spawner-to-smolt relation

I generated a Bayesian joint posterior probability distribution for the parameters a, d, and K of the Cultus sockeye spawner-to-smolt relation (eq. 2). A uniform prior probability was specified for each hypothesized parameter value, with bounds illustrated in Figure 6. I calculated the likelihood of spawner-to-smolt data for each of 3360 hypothesized combinations of a, d, and K parameters. The likelihood function for a normal distribution was used for each observed data point for a given hypothesized parameter combination:

(A1)  $L_t(\text{data point}_t | a_i, d_i, k_i) = [1/(\sigma(2\pi)^{1/2})] \exp[-(\log_e Sm_o - \log_e Sm_p)^2/2\sigma^2]$ 

where t is brood year, i is one combination of hypothesized parameter values a, d, and K, (where i = 1 to 3360) and  $Sm_o$  and  $Sm_p$  are observed and predicted smolt abundance, respectively. The posterior probability for each parameter combination, i, was calculated in the usual manner with Bayes' formula (Gelman et al. 2004).

The bounds on the uniform priors were determined through a sensitivity analysis examining the effect of the bounds on the marginal posterior probabilities for the a, d, and K parameters. I initially chose the ranges of the prior distributions based on  $\pm 3$  standard errors (SE) of the best-fit values for parameters of the Cultus spawner-to-smolt relation that resulted from a least squares regression. The bounds were then adjusted if the resulting marginal posterior distribution appeared truncated or trailed off extensively at low probability. The marginal posterior distribution for the K parameter is extremely asymmetrical and so the prior was terminated at 300. At higher K values the resulting Cultus spawner-to-smolt relation became illogical and unlikely.

## **Appendix 2. Gross commercial revenue**

To estimate an indicator of the economic value of future late-run Fraser River sockeye harvests, I calculated the average commercial dollar-value per fish, which represents the gross commercial revenue from harvest. In these future projections of economic value, I have not used a discount rate or accounted for costs associated with the harvest, because I was only interested in the relative merits of alternative harvest rules, not the actual dollar benefits. Furthermore, little is know about future discount rates and costs associated with harvesting and processing or technological advances that may occur. I also did not consider social costs and benefits in this model because these are difficult to quantify and beyond the scope of this study.

Using data from Table A1, the mean length of fish is 56.25 cm. Post-orbital-fork (POF) length was converted to weight using the following equation (Steve Latham, Pacific Salmon Commission, Vancouver, B.C., personal communication):

(A2) WGT =  $(0.1613 \times POF) - 5.9358$ 

where WGT is weight in kg and  $r^2=0.83$ .

Using this equation, the mean weight per fish came to 3.14 kg.

Using data in Table A2, the mean processed price per kg round was \$6.96. Using the mean price per kg and mean weight per fish, the mean gross revenue per fish came to \$21.83.

In this analysis I assumed that all sockeye caught are worth the same commercial processed price, whether they were caught in commercial, aboriginal, or other fisheries. I made this assumption because there is little information about how catch will be divided between First Nations and commercial fisheries in the future. Further, there is no accurate
estimate of the value of fish to First Nations, because the market price only counts food value and not social or ceremonial value.

Year	Sample size	Mean POF length of fish in catch (cm)	
2000	62	56.07	
2001	42	56.34	
2002	3687	57.23	
2003	300	55.36	

**Table A1.** Mean post-orbital-fork (POF) length (cm) of fish caught in Gulf troll test fisheries in late August and September (S. Latham, personal communication).

**Table A2.** Assumed gross commercial revenue as processed price per kg round (GSGislason & Associates, Ltd. 2004).

Area	\$ price/kg round processed value	Proportion of catch	
Seine area B	\$7.00	0.40	
Gillnet area D	\$7.00	0.15	
Gillnet area E	\$6.60	0.30	
Troll area H	\$7.53	0.15	